Transforming Postsecondary Education with Service Design: Engaging with Colleges in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA)

By Madina Siddiqui

Submitted to OCAD University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Design in Strategic Foresight and Innovation

Toronto, Ontario, Canada, 2023

Copyright

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0) creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/

You are free to:

Share — copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format Adapt — remix, transform, and build upon the material

The licensor cannot revoke these freedoms as long as you follow the license terms.

Under the following terms:

Attribution — You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.

NonCommercial – You may not use the material for commercial purposes.

ShareAlike — If you remix, transform, or build upon the material, you must distribute your contributions under the same license as the original.

No additional restrictions — You may not apply legal terms or technological measures that legally restrict others from doing anything the license permits.



Abstract

Service Design has emerged as a powerful tool in recent years to improve the experiences of users in both the private and public sector. This paper explores the potential of Service Design to improve the experiences of learners accessing student services in colleges within the Greater Toronto Area (GTA). To achieve this, the study engaged several student affairs practitioners to understand the current approaches and challenges in the development and delivery of student services. The study generated system archetypes that aided in identifying patterns and behaviours influencing service development. The findings indicate that there is no standard approach to developing student services, and several systemic obstacles impede student-centred service development. This paper puts forth a series of evidence-based recommendations, inviting the student affairs community to explore Service Design as part of their practice.

Keywords: student affairs, Service Design, systems thinking, system archetypes, higher education, postsecondary education, Colleges, student services

Acknowledgements

A very special thank you to **Olivier**, my other half, the light of my life. Thank you for your unwavering support, unconditional love and kindness. You have been with me on this journey from the beginning and without you I don't think I would have gotten through the finish line in one piece. You listened to my messy thoughts on this topic for days and weeks on end. For that I will always be grateful.

My deepest appreciation for **Anna**, my mentor turned best friend. Learning from you has been such a privilege. You have played a pivotal role in shaping me as both a researcher and as a human. Thank you for being my soundboard and for providing me with direction when I felt like I was faced with so many options or felt completely lost.

My deepest gratitude to **my parents**. I would not be where I am today without your unconditional love and support throughout this journey.

Thank you to my primary advisor and teacher, **Zan**, for working through my thoughts, questions and providing me with direction in moments where I felt lost. When I felt most confused, your steadiness assured me that it would all be okay.

My deepest gratitude to my secondary advisor, **Rick**. The depth of your knowledge and passion for student development and higher education is a true testament to your dedication in this space. Thank you for taking the time to share with me your valuable feedback and wisdom.

Thank you, **Grayce**, for designing this report, providing invaluable feedback and ultimately helping bring my vision to life. I appreciate you.

SFI Cohort, we started our program during one of the most challenging periods in history and managed to curate incredible spaces of learning and growth. Thank you for creating a virtual space where we could engage in rich discussions, challenging thoughts and finding moments of joy.

My deepest gratitude to **the participants** of this study. Thank you for sharing your experiences with me. After every conversation, I was left in awe and was reminded of the incredibly important role you play in the journey of a learner. Thank you for all that you do.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

List of Figures and Tables	8
Terminology	10
Preface	11
Introduction	12
Context and Background	13
Why Colleges and Student Affairs	14
Shifting to a Service Mindset	16
Why Service Design	17
Framing the System	18
Understanding the Origins of Ontario Colleges & Student Affairs	19
Current State of Colleges in Ontario & Student Services	20
Actors that Shape the Ontario College System	22
Review of Literature on Service Design in Postsecondary Education	25
Review of Literature	26
Methodology and Approach	28
Research Approach	29
Study Sample	30
Study Limitations	31
Research Finding and Sense-Making	32
Service Development and Perspectives on Applications of Service Design	33
From Findings to Insights: System Archetypes as a Method for Sense-Making	40
Recommendations and Conclusion	46
Evidence-Based Recommendations for Leveraging Service Design	47
Implications for Further Research	49
Conclusion	50
References	51
Appendix	57
Appendix A - Interview Questions	58

List of Figures and Tables

Figures
Figure 1. Onion Diagram of Key Actors and Stakeholders in Ontario Colleges
Figure 2. Ontario Colleges Actors Map
Figure 3. Example of a Causal Loop Diagram for College Enrolment
Figure 4. Fixes That Fail Archetype Failing to Meet the Needs of Learners through Program Changes
Figure 5. Fixes That Fail Archetype Reactive Programming and Pressure on Resourcing
Figure 6. Growth & Underinvestment Perception on Student Services and Downstream Impacts
Tables
Table 1. Service Areas and Programs Offered by Colleges
Table 2. Roles and Responsibilities of Student Affairs Practitioners and Proximity to Learners
Table 3. Participant familiarity with Service Design
Table 4. Summary of Challenges and Opportunities to Leverage Service Design

8 | Transforming Postsecondary Education with Service Design: Engaging with colleges in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA)

9 —

Terminology

Actor: Human or non-human entity playing a role in a given system.

Journey Map: End-to-end visualization of a user accomplishing a goal.

Learners: Individuals of all ages who are actively engaging in learning, skill-development and self-improvement.

Persona Map: Tool to identify the needs, wants and feelings of a user accessing a product or service.

Service Blueprint: Visualization of the entire service delivery process. Includes digital and face-to-face touchpoints with the user, as well as back-end processes supporting service delivery. Can be used to identify relationships and operational efficiencies.

Service Area: Group of services offered by a specific team or department within a college. May exist inside or outside of a college's Student Affairs division.

Service Design: Interdisciplinary design method that involves collaboration with the end-user to enhance services for users and organizations.

Stakeholder: Individual or organization that has a stake or interest in decisionmaking within a system.

Student Affairs: Department or division of a postsecondary education institution that delivers programs and services to support student success. Also referred to as Student Support or Student Services.

Student Programs & Services: Services in place to support learners in, through and out of their college journey. Emcompasses all activities related to these services, including programs, events, as well as learner-facing technologies such as websites, mobile applications or online portals.

User: Individual consuming and making use of a service. In a postsecondary education context, learners may be referred to as users when they interact with a program or service.

Preface

The professional and personal significance of this project are deeply intertwined for me. As an Afghan-Canadian woman who is the first in her family to complete an undergraduate or graduate degree, my experiences navigating postsecondary education were often mired with barriers. Moreover, these obstacles depicted formative moments for my young adult self.

During my postsecondary learning journey, there were many ups and downs when interacting with Administration figures, Student Services and otherwise. For instance, I first sought out mental health support within my institution and rather than finding a support system, I was faced with long wait times and distant care, which only added distress to the stigma I already felt. The first time I required learning accommodations, I was left wandering between campuses and arguing with various departments, unable to find the correct staff member to provide me with the assistance and approvals I required.

However, there were positive interactions as well. One of the most prominent being, when Student Services provided me with the opportunity to connect with other Afghans on campus. This allowed me to reconnect with my roots and meet some of the most incredible individuals I had ever met, who helped shape me and contribute to my growth.

Reflecting on my time as a learner, I identified critical moments in my journey that impacted me every step of the way. As a learner who has experienced feeling lost and being bounced around from one office to another, I was convinced that there had to be a better way to service learners. In the end, it was being a firstgeneration learner that ultimately drew me into working in the postsecondary sector and ignited my passion for enhancing the experiences of all learners. In my seven years of working in the postsecondary education space, I interacted with innumerable learners who faced similar and complex barriers that negatively impacted their perception of postsecondary education, their satisfaction as learners and their overall learner experience. As a Student Affairs practitioner, I found that we often lacked the right tools to support learners, facing a myriad of bureaucratic processes that are defined by hierarchical decision-making, limiting our ability to make meaningful change. In this, I was left reflecting on how learners can be centred in decision-making, how services and programs are designed with the learner in mind and how we can redesign a postsecondary education system that is inclusive of all learners.

I ultimately left the postsecondary education sector to seek out the knowledge and skills required to effect change in education, hoping to acquire new ways of developing holistic services for learners. I wanted to find the "how" to all of my questions.

More often than not, the value of students' experiences is discounted in the postsecondary education space, and this could be easily solved using a methodology that centres on student voices, experiences, needs and challenges. When venturing into this area of research, I discovered an abundance of literature on student services and the challenges learners face when navigating and accessing these services. Despite this, current literature fails to identify ways to operationalize best practices that place learners at the centre. In addition, available resources fail to make use of design methodologies, which are arguably the most powerful tool currently available to centre services around a user.

By nature, postsecondary education institutions are well situated to engage in meaningful and effective ways of transformation; bringing together practitioners who have a commitment to continuous learning and who can engage in a productive exchange of ideas. Because of this, my hope is that Student Affairs practitioners and researchers can make use of this work to explore the applications of Service Design within student services and the sector more broadly.

Introduction

Colleges play an integral role in Ontario's broader society, providing learners with knowledge and skills required by the labour market, as well as greater social mobility (Dennison 1995a; James, 2010). Each year, approximately 500,000 learners are served by colleges in Ontario (Colleges Ontario, 2022a). A critical component of Ontario colleges are the student services they offer to support learners. These student services not only reduce student attrition but also increase the diversity of learners in the space and prepare learners to be active participants in society (Tinto, 1993). Learners attending colleges in Ontario today hold diverse cultural and socio-demographic identities, including but not limited to international learners, 2SLGBTQ+ learners, Black learners, Indigenous learners, racialized learners, learners with disabilities, first-generation learners and mature learners (eCampusOntario, 2011; Colleges Ontario, 2022a). In addition to serving learners with complex identities, student services must adapt to the changing needs of learners resulting from geo-political crises, immigration policies, and economic instability (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021; One Voice Canada, 2021). Student services support all of these learners through their academic development and personal development challenges, and play an important role in preparing learners to be active learners in society (McInnis, 2004).

Despite the availability of programs and services meant to help learners overcome the challenges that may arise relating to their academic success, financial wellbeing, health and wellness, several learners in Ontario continue to face barriers on their learning journey (College Student Alliance, 2022b, American College Health Association, 2022; The Canadian Press, 2017; Colyar et al., 2023). These persistent barriers offer an opportunity to improve the experiences of learners by revisiting the ways in which student services are developed. To this end, this study seeks to answer the following research question: **How might colleges in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA) leverage Service Design to improve the experiences of learners?** Colleges in the GTA include Centennial College, George Brown College, Humber College, Sheridan College and Seneca College.

A review of the Ontario college system and its landscape, as well as a review of literature on the use of Service Design in postsecondary institutions, will situate the study. Next, the research methodologies will be described, including how they have been employed to gather information from student affairs practitioners working in GTA colleges to answer this question. The findings from this research study will describe current approaches to developing services for learners, existing challenges to developing these services and opportunities to enhance these services. Lastly, an analysis using system archetypes will be presented, along with evidence-based recommendations for colleges in Ontario on leveraging Service Design to enhance the learner experience.

Context and Background

Why Colleges and Student Affairs

Both by mandate and necessity, Ontario colleges have come to serve an increasingly diverse student population. Now more than ever, holistic student services that meet the complex needs of diverse learners are required in Ontario colleges to ensure student success. The needs of learners have been shown to be interconnected, and learners expect their needs to be met in a personalized and seamless way (Felix & Lerner, 2017). With so many students expressing a need for support, there is a pressing need to revisit the ways in which student services are developed.

Postsecondary institutions in Ontario play an important role in generating and shaping a strong and skilled labour force. Like many of the province's longstanding institutions, postsecondary institutions have been shaped by the social and cultural context in which they were established (Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002; Davis, 1966; Owen, 1995; Dennison & Gallagher, 1986). As such, postsecondary institutions have inevitably been shaped by histories of systemic racism, colonialism and gender inequity that have excluded, and in some cases continue to exclude, Black learners, Indigenous learners, racialized learners, 2SLGBTQ+ learners, learners with disabilities and first generation learners (Brady, 2017; Michalski et al., 2017, Seifert & Burrow, 2013; Buchanan, 2021). Unlike universities, colleges were established to not only meet the demands of the labour market, but also to create alternative and accessible pathways to postsecondary education (Dennison 1995b; Dennison & Gallagher, 1986). Furthermore, they were built to serve a different learner and community demographic, within a different employment market and global migration context (James, 2010). Today, colleges play a central role in their respective communities as part of their mandate to serve the needs of local and diverse learners (Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002; James, 2010).

Student affairs (also known as student services) play a key role in allowing colleges to deliver on their mandate to serve their local communities. Student Affairs divisions provide key services that ensure the academic success of students, including academic advising, counselling, accessible learning, tutoring support and peer-mentorship (Cox & Strange, 2010; Seifert et al., 2011; CACUSS/ASEUCC, n.d.). The practice of student affairs has grown significantly over the past decade, with new and more specialized student services being offered as a result (Cox & Strange, 2010). Demand for more specialized services has come about in part as a result of student populations growing both in size and diversity. According to the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario (2021), between the 2012-13 and 2020-21 academic school years, international student enrolment in Ontario colleges increased by 342%, with colleges beginning to rely heavily on international student fees to offset the decrease in funding received from the Province of Ontario. During the 2020-21 school year, Ontario's 24 public colleges generated a total of \$1.7 billion in international student tuition fees, representing 68% of tuition fee revenue across all colleges (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021). In addition to growing international student enrolment, domestic student enrolment has also grown in diversity. In comparison to universities, colleges serve a higher percentage of low-income learners, mature learners, first-generation learners, Indigenous learners and learners identifying with a disability (Colleges Ontario, 2022a; Finnie et al., 2015; McGregor, 2021). Student services support learners through their academic experience and without these services, several learners might feel disconnected from their learning institution and even drop out (Tinto, 1993). Due to these changes in the learner population, student services will need to continue being flexible and adapt to the changing needs of students.

In The Diversity Challenge for Higher Education in Canada, Michalski et al., (2017) emphasize the value that diversity brings to the postsecondary education space but warns that diversity must be accompanied by services that will support students to ensure retention and minimize attrition (Dietsche, 2012; McGregor, 2021; Seifert et al., 2011; Veres, 2015). The Ontario government has dedicated

considerable efforts and funds to increase enrolment, but has been criticized for not accompanying these efforts with strategies that invest in student services and student success (McGregor, 2021; Michalski et al., 2017). International learners have reported that they continue to face academic, financial, social and health challenges throughout their academic journey. This includes barriers to accessing financial aid, experiencing food insecurity, difficulties accessing mental health support due to cost or long wait times, challenges finding safe and affordable housing and communication barriers caused by colleges failing to acknowledge the realities of international learners (CASA, 2022; Laban et al., 2020; College Student Alliance, 2022a; Gemmill, 2022; Colyar et al., 2023; Varughese & Schwartz, 2022; College Student Alliance, 2022b). Many of the stressors faced by international learners are interconnected, being driven by a combination of financial, policy, geopolitical, socio-cultural, health and wellness factors in such a way that challenges caused by one factor often exacerbate challenges related to another factor (Keung et al., 2019; Esses et al., 2018; Varughese & Schwartz, 2022). Domestic learners face their own barriers to accessing postsecondary education. Studies conducted on the experiences of learners revealed challenges that include struggling to balance competing priorities such as academic success, financial wellbeing, affordable housing and mental health. Overall, survey respondents voiced a need for greater support (College Student Alliance, 2022b; American College Health Association, 2022; The Canadian Press, 2017).

While the strong demand for various forms of learner support may suggest a high utilization rate for student services within Ontario colleges, evidence suggests otherwise. Learners in Ontario colleges appear to be underutilizing the support services available to them (Dietsche, 2012; Veres, 2015). A survey of over 47,000 Ontario college learners finds that only half of learners who express a need for support services on campus actually make use of the support services offered by their college (Dietsche, 2012). A case study surveying over 2,400 learners at Niagara College finds that, while the majority of learners believes support services are important, only a fraction of learners actually makes use of these support

services (Veres, 2015). Low utilization of student services in this study was most common among male students and students holding part-time employment (Veres, 2015). Learners continue to face adversity as part of their academic journey, despite the availability of student services. With such pressing needs for support from learners, there exists an important opportunity to better meet the needs of learners and improve their experiences by revisiting the ways by which student services are developed.

Shifting to a Service Mindset

The past few decades have been marked by an economic shift away from the delivery of products and towards the delivery of services, with services now making up more than 70% of the Canadian economy (Global Affairs Canada, 2018). This includes private sector services, such as finance and insurance, as well as public sector services like education. Despite our world having become much more service-dominated, many organizations continue to view the services they offer as products. Among them are postsecondary institutions, who continue to view themselves as producers of goods in the form of academic programs (Osborne et al., 2013; Ostrom et al., 2011a; Ostrom et al., 2010b; Trischler & Scott, 2016).

Admittedly, this product-oriented approach is not ubiquitous in Ontario colleges. A HEQCO (2011) consultation of student affairs professionals in Ontario colleges and universities identified two forms of structures within these institutions: "student-focused" and "institutions-focused" structures. Service-oriented approaches appear to be more prevalent in areas of colleges that might be labelled as "student-focused" (Seifert & Burrow, 2011). However, the "institutionfocused" structures within a college, like those responsible for recruitment or the delivery of academic programming, appear to adopt a more product-oriented approach. For departments falling under "institution-focused" structures, student success is often viewed as being the responsibility of other areas of the institution (Seifert et al., 2011). As a guide to differentiating products from services, Moritz (2005) identifies six key features of services. He explains that:

- 1. Services cannot be touched or consumed, making them intangible;
- 2. The delivery and use of a service typically happens at the same time;
- 3. Because services are not tangible, they cannot be stored, suggesting that they are easily accessible and lose value when they are not in use;
- 4. Services are not owned and cannot be transported to one's physical location;
- 5. Services are made up of multiple touchpoints over a span of time, making them complex;
- 6. The quality of a service is difficult to measure and is usually measured through a qualitative lens.

All six of these characteristics can be seen in the services delivered by postsecondary institutions, especially student services. As an example, academic advising provides learners with information, resources and guidance as they make academic and career choices (Fricker, 2015; CACUSS/ASEUCC, n.d.). Academic advising is intangible, cannot be stored, and cannot be owned by any individual accessing the service. The delivery and the use of academic advising take place at the same time, and it involves multiple touch points between learners and advisors. This service and many others offered by colleges can be categorized as services.

There is insufficient evidence linking the product-oriented approach of postsecondary institutions to the challenges faced by Ontario college learners seeking student services. However, the adoption of a more service-oriented approach by postsecondary institutions would open the door for the use of Service Design as a valuable tool for improving student services and addressing the needs of learners.

Why Service Design

Service Design has emerged as a powerful methodology in recent years to improve the experiences of users accessing services in both the private and public sector. In Canada, much research has been conducted to highlight the value of Service Design in improving public services, most notably in the health sector (Hulsey & Zawislak, 2022; Ontario Palliative Care Network, 2017). Service Design is fundamentally used to enhance the development and delivery of services through co-design. The method is multidisciplinary and collaborative, bringing together approaches from different areas of design. Service Design is also meant to adapt to the needs of the organization within which it is being used, uncovering opportunity areas, core problems and holistic solutions. Ultimately, Service Design aims to improve the quality of a service by including multiple stakeholders in the design process and by understanding their various interactions in the delivery of the service (Bitner et al., 2012; Moritz, 2005; Trischler & Scott, 2016).

It is important to note that Service Design is also grounded in the perspectives of the user and most importantly consists of an ongoing process (Ostrom et al., 2010b; Moritz, 2005). Moritz (2005), whose definition of Service Design is among the most widely accepted ones, states the following:

"Service Design helps to innovate or improve services to make them more useful, usable, desirable for [users] and are efficient as well as effective for organizations. It is a new holistic, multi-disciplinary, integrative field"(p. 4).

In the historical and contemporary literature on the development and creation of student services, learners are rarely mentioned to be part of a co-design process. Admittedly, learners are often engaged in a consultative capacity, completing annual surveys to report on experiences and participating in institution wide consultations (Humber, 2022; American College Health Association, 2022; Sullivan, 2010). However, there remains limited documentation on the co-design of student services in Ontario colleges. All of this highlights an opportunity for institutions to co-design with learners, as learners are valuable experts in their own experiences. Service Design as a methodology could provide student affairs professionals with the tools required to transform their student services. In turn, improved student services would contribute to student success in the classroom and increase graduate employability, along with contributing to learner self-efficacy, confidence, wellbeing and social connection. The improved support offered to learners could reduce student attrition, and even drive enrollment (Stephens, 2015; Dietsche, 2012; Keith, 2005; Russel, 2010; Drea, 2004). In short, improving student services with Service Design could help Ontario colleges achieve their mandates on all fronts.

Framing the System

18

Understanding the Origins of Ontario Colleges & Student Affairs

Ontario's public postsecondary education system has existed for decades and has undergone various periods of rapid transformation, often triggered by external socio-political, economic and technological factors. The foundations of the postsecondary system can be traced back prior to World War II (WW2), at which time postsecondary education was closely tied to the activities of the church and later influenced by Euro-centric school systems (Dennison & Gallagher, 1986). As a result of industrialization and urbanization following WW2, the demand for postsecondary education grew alongside the government's need to establish a skilled workforce to sustain the provincial economy. Soon enough, Ontario's college system was born.

The earliest forms of the Ontario college system can be traced back to the 1960s with the establishment of the province's first college in 1966 (Dennison & Gallagher, 1986; Centennial College, 2023a). Colleges in Ontario aimed to provide learners with the relevant skills to prepare them for the workforce (Dennison, 1995b; Dennison & Gallagher, 1986). It is important to note that, to this day, colleges and universities differ greatly from one another. Universities were historically autonomous and had more control over the development of their learners, placing an emphasis on the development of research (Dennison, 1995c). Colleges, on the other hand, were regulated by and accountable to the provincial government and to the public. Program requirements and curriculum were only a few aspects of what was overseen by the Province of Ontario rather than the colleges themselves (Owen, 1995; Dennison & Gallagher, 1986). Colleges in Ontario continued to grow and become increasingly centralized bodies with a greater level of accountability to the provincial government, citizens, and the communities within which they were located. As a result, colleges have had to learn to adapt to meet the needs of their local communities (Dennison, 1995a; Dennison, 1995d; Owen, 1995; Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002).

Complimenting the delivery of academic learning, student affairs were developed to provide holistic support through the delivery of programs and services that underpin student success inside and outside the classroom (Cox & Strange, 2010; CACUSS/ASEUCC, n.d.). The existence of departments responsible for student affairs can be traced back to the 19th century (Seifert et al., 2011). Student Affairs departments within Canadian colleges were focused on meeting the diverse needs of their student populations from the onset (James, 2010; Dennison & Gallagher, 1986). Student affairs in the first Canadian colleges offered academic services, counselling services and financial advising (James, 2010; Dennison & Gallagher, 1986). Throughout the years, student affairs grew in structure, became more professionalized and began playing an important role in the postsecondary education space (Tamburri, 2021; James, 2010; Cox & Strange, 2010).

Current State of Colleges in Ontario & Student Services

The current postsecondary education system in Ontario is generally complex. It is made up of both public and private institutions, governing bodies, as well as independent organizations, all with the shared purpose of producing graduates that will successfully enter the workforce and serve as active members of society (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021; James 2010; Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002). Today, Ontario has 24 publicly-assisted colleges that offer a variety of certificate, diploma, degree and apprenticeship programs across various fields, such as Applied Arts, Technology, Business, Health Sciences, Human Services, Hospitality, Tourism and many others (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021). The purpose of colleges in Ontario is defined by the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act (2002):

"to offer a comprehensive program of career-oriented, postsecondary education and training to assist individuals in finding and keeping employment, to meet the needs of employers and the changing work environment and to support the economic and social needs of their local and diverse communities (p.1)."

As mentioned in earlier sections, colleges in Ontario hold an additional component to their mandate. In contrast to universities, the Act specifically mentions "local and diverse communities" as the constituents that colleges are meant to serve. This suggests that colleges are ultimately meant to be institutions that are actively engaged in supporting the social and economic development of communities and the learners within them (Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002).

Colleges fall within the provincial purview, specifically under the Ministry of Colleges and Universities (MCU). The MCU holds a variety of responsibilities that include but are not limited to policy development, distribution of provincial funding, providing financial assistance through the Ontario Assistance Student Program (OSAP) and granting degrees. Some of these responsibilities are delegated to adjacent provincially funded organizations that work at arms length of the MCU and help inform decisions surrounding developing policy, research, quality assurance and granting degrees (Ministry of Colleges and Universities, 2023; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021). Each college in Ontario is governed by a Board of Governors (BoG) made up of internal and external community members accountable to the MCU. The role of the BoG is to provide fiduciary oversight, while also ensuring that the strategic and institutional priorities of the college are being met (Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002; Davis, 1966; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021).

Colleges are held to greater levels of accountability than other postsecondary institutions in Ontario and have mechanisms in place to assure the quality of programs delivered as a public service. Colleges in Ontario are held to their Strategic Mandate Agreement, an agreement between the MCU and each public college to ensure colleges are delivering on their mandates. Colleges are assessed against 10 performance-based metrics that will determine up to 60% of provincial funding provided to each institution by 2024-25 (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021; Peters, 2021). In addition to being held to their Strategic Mandate Agreements, colleges are also assessed on the quality of their academic programs. This assessment may be conducted by regulating bodies for specific programs (e.g., Nurses of Ontario) or in the form of larger quality assurance reviews conducted through the Ontario Quality Assurance Services and the Postsecondary Quality Assessment Board, that review the quality of non-degree and degree programs (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021; Klassen, 2012). More so than student services, academic programs offered in Ontario colleges have various mechanisms, frameworks and requirements in place to ensure their quality and to assess their delivery within the institution (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021; CQAAP, 2022; Klassen, 2012). Colleges are held accountable to program standards developed and reviewed regularly by the MCU to inform curriculum and ensure that college graduates develop necessary skills (Ministry of Colleges and Universities, 2022). Most of these frameworks place an emphasis on the quality assurance of academic programs, with limited mention or regulation of the development and delivery of student services.

To date, student services continue to play an important role in colleges in Ontario, providing learners with both support and co-curricular learning opportunities alongside their academic learning. Student affairs services can look different depending on the institution and there is limited publicly available information on the organizational structures of student services. A summary of available programs and services based on publicly available data is outlined below.

Based on a scan of Centennial College, George Brown College, Humber College, Seneca College and Sheridan College, the following were identified as commonly offered services in Ontario colleges. Service areas listed were also informed by Canadian Association of College & University Student Services (CACUSS), National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (NASPA) and other literature on student services. Each website was scanned for relevant student services that were then mapped to a service area. A total of 7 core service areas were identified and illustrated in Table 1, though it should be noted that the services within a given service area may be offered by several different departments across an institution. (Centennial College, 2023b; Centennial College, 2023c; George Brown College 2023a; George Brown College, 2023b; Humber College, 2023a; Humber College, 2023b; Seneca College, 2023a; Seneca College, 2023b; Sheridan College, n.d.a; Sheridan College, n.d.b; CACUSS/ASEUCC, n.d.; Wesaw & Sponsler, 2014; James, 2010; Seifert et al., 2011).

Table 1. Service Areas and Programs Offered by Colleges

Service Area	Student Programs & Services	
Academic Support	Academic Advising, Career Services, Co-operative Edu- cation, Libraries, Learning Support & Strategies	
Campus Life (also referred to as Student Life)	Chaplaincy, Commuter Student Programs, Leadership Development, Mentorship Programs, Orientation & First-Year Experience, Service Learning/Community Engagement, Student Communications, Student Life, International Student Services	
Health, Wellness & Accessibility	Accessibility/Accommodation Services, Athletic & Recreation, Counselling Services, Health Care Services, Health and Wellness Promotion, Sexual Violence Pre- vention & Education	
Equity, Diversity & Inclusion-related services	Indigenous Student Services, Equity, Diversity and Inclu- sion Services	
Ancillary Services	Conference Services, Food Services, Housing, Residence Life, Student Government	
Registrarial Services	Financial Aid, Admissions & Recruitment, Registrar's Office	
Student Safety	Student Conduct, Campus Safety & Security	
Other (uncategorized)	Assessment, I.T. Services	

The aforementioned scan confirmed that the departments and divisions responsible for a given service area vary widely from one institution to another. Despite this, these services are nearly always managed, developed or delivered by student affair practitioners. These practitioners include counsellors, coordinators and advisors (CACUSS/ASEUCC, n.d.; James, 2010; Seifert & Burrow, 2013).

Actors that Shape the Ontario College System

There are several different actors that shape and influence the Ontario college system. Each plays a key role, and many interdependencies and relationships exist between these actors. Secondary research on the postsecondary education space surfaced key stakeholders and actors that influence student services specifically. The list of actors outlined in figure 1 is not exhaustive, but it does include key actors in the development of student services.

The first tool used to conduct this stakeholder analysis is the Onion Diagram of System Stakeholders below, adapted from Alexander (2004). Each circular ring of the stakeholder diagram focuses on a different layer of actors and reflects the proximity to learners and to the services that are offered to them. While learners are at the core of the Onion Diagram, the outer layer identifies peripheral factors that influence and drive the need for student services. It should be noted that the diagram below outlines the key stakeholders of the Ontario college system specifically as it relates to student services. It does not consist of a stakeholder map of the Ontario college system as a whole and excludes several actors as a result.

Users (first layer) - At the core of this diagram are the learners attending colleges in Ontario. These learners hold diverse, cultural, socio-demographic identities that are intersecting and ever-evolving. This includes but is not limited to, International learners, 2SLGBTQ+ learners, Black learners, Indigenous learners, racialized learners, learners with disabilities, first-generation learners and mature learners (eCampusOntario, 2011; Colleges Ontario, 2022a). A report by eCampusOntario (2021) highlights that postsecondary institutions will continue to become more diverse, and that these institutions will need to adapt to the evolving needs of learners. Learners are actively navigating the postsecondary space and are engaging with the services in place to support them. They are the ultimate end-users of student services. College Organizations (internal, second laver) - This laver includes actors that play a role in the development, delivery or oversight of student services. These individuals consist of student affairs staff, namely faculty, support staff and administration staff, who are responsible for the various service areas identified in the previous section. Administration staff are responsible for setting the departmental vision, allocating resources and establishing partnerships, which are key to ensuring that the enhancement of learner success is a shared objective outside of student affairs departments (Sullivan, 2010). Support staff are primarily responsible for the development and delivery of student programs and services, interacting with learners directly to offer services such as counselling, financial aid, career services and housing support (CBC, 2011; CEC, n.d.). While instructional faculty may not be directly involved in the development of most student services, they play a critical role in referring students to these services and sometimes even supporting students in moments of crisis themselves (Seifert & Burrow, 2011). Some faculty roles, however, such as librarians, are directly involved in the development of academic student services, such as research support, online academic literacy skill building, and access to resources (Colleges Libraries Ontario, 2020). Alongside student affairs staff are the internal governing bodies of colleges, overseeing the business and academic operations of their respective institutions (Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002; Davis, 1966; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021). Given the role played by stakeholders in the College Organization layer of the Onion Diagram, these actors can be viewed as highly influential in the system within which student services exist.

College Ecosystem (external, third layer) - The College Ecosystem layer includes external governing bodies and organizations that may impact or influence the second layer of the diagram. Organizations and governing bodies within this layer can shape best practices of service delivery, assess the quality of services or determine the distribution of funding (Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021; CQAAP, 2022). These stakeholders include student affairs organizations (e.g., CACUSS), government agencies (e.g., Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario) and quality assurance bodies (e.g., Ontario College Quality Assurance Bodies) (CACUSS/ASEUCC, n.d.; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021).

Broader Environment (fourth layer) - The outer layer depicts the drivers of demand for student services, which have direct and indirect impacts on the broader system and its learners. Political factors including geo-political crises and political instability abroad, as well as national immigration policies, which have a direct impact on actors across the Ontario college system (Beattie, 2021; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021; One Voice Canada, 2021; Balintec, 2022). Several economic factors impact the financial security of learners, which has a cascading effect on housing and food security and can impact the overall health and wellbeing of learners (One Voice Canada, 2021; Jenkins, 2022; Silverthorn, 2016; Beeston, 2016). Other economic factors contribute to labour market disruptions in an already competitive employment market (Colyar et al, 2022). Cultural factors, such as cultural norms and family expectations, place pressures on learners and organizations in the system (One Voice Canada, 2021). Each of these drivers lead learners to utilize student services and place pressure on surrounding areas of the Ontario college system.

Figure 1. Onion Diagram of Key Actors and Stakeholders in Ontario Colleges



Figure 2 is a stakeholder map that adds an additional layer of insight to the Ontario college system by plotting system stakeholders based on their proximity to student services and their power within the system. Here, power is defined as the ability to influence and change student services. The map is divided into four quadrants, with stakeholders in the bottom-left quadrant holding the least power and being furthest removed from student services, and stakeholders in the topright quadrant holding both power and proximity to student services. Internal stakeholders and college actors are shown in navy blue (circle), while external stakeholders and actors are shown in light blue (square).

Figure 2. Ontario Colleges Actors Map



The position that each actor and stakeholder holds within this map paints a clearer picture of the role they play in the Ontario college system as it relates to student services. Firstly, government agencies can be found in the bottom-left quadrant, holding the least power and being furthest removed from student services. Next, learners can be found in the bottom-right quadrant, as they are closest to student services, but do not have the same ability to influence these student services in comparison to other stakeholders. In the top-left quadrant are the Board of Governors and the MCU, which hold higher levels of power in the Ontario college system, but are the furthest removed from student service delivery. Lastly, it is the staff working in Student Affairs departments that fall into the top-right quadrant, holding both power to influence student services and proximity to these services and their end-users.

24 | Transforming Postsecondary Education with Service Design: Engaging with colleges in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA)

Review of Literature on Service Design in Postsecondary Education

Review of Literature

The review of literature is based on an assessment of existing scholarly articles, journals, news articles and textbooks found on Ontario colleges and student affairs. Combinations of the following keyword searches were used when scanning for literature: Service Design, participatory design, blueprinting, journey design, service development, program development, program assessment, student development, student affairs program development, student service development, Ontario colleges and Canada. Due to the limited literature on service development within Ontario colleges and postsecondary institutions, the review of literature was also expanded to include the United Kingdom, United States and Australia. The literature review identified existing gaps in the literature on program and service development in student affairs that informed the direction of this research.

A large portion of the literature found was related to student development theory in the development of programs and services for students. Student development theory is a framework commonly employed by student affairs professionals, providing a holistic and theoretical understanding of how learners grow, as well as how they are impacted by their environment as they progress through their learning journey (Strange, 2010; Kazmi, 2010; Patton et al., 2016; Holmes et al., 2004; Greenberg, 1999). Student development theory is referenced often in available literature as a tool leveraged by student affairs practitioners when developing student programs. Sheridan College appeared to be the only GTA College in the available literature to directly reference their use of student development theory in their work to enhance their first-year experience program (Coulter et al., 2019).

In addition to student development theory, the use of assessment and evaluation was also cited as a framework used to improve existing offerings. Within the context of student affairs, assessment and evaluation is understood as being the process of gathering information with the purpose of analyzing and identifying insights in order to ensure quality of programs offered within an institution (Sullivan, 2010; Henning et al, 2016). Assessment is a cyclical process that ultimately serves to monitor the effectiveness and assure the quality of a

program or service being delivered. The last stage of the assessment cycle consists of applying learnings in the next iteration of program delivery (Henning et al, 2016). Obtaining feedback on a program or service that has been delivered not only serves to enhance program development, it also supports student affairs professionals when advocating for funding and holds them accountable to meeting the program learning objectives (Henning et al, 2016).

Overall, the use of Service Design in the available literature was scarce. Literature on the use of Service Design to enhance student experience was predominantly found in the United Kingdom, Australia and the United States (Baranova et al., 2011; Bitner et al., 2012; Roberts, 2022; Trischler & Scott, 2016). This included the use of service blueprinting, one of the many tools falling under the umbrella of Service Design, to enhance the experiences of learners, staff and faculty. As an example, the University of Derby in the United Kingdom engaged with over 100 learners and staff to develop a blueprint on the enrolment and registration process for learners (Baranova et al., 2011). In the United States, a student affairs practitioner leveraged service blueprinting to map out student services at a university, engaging with staff members and departments to create 114 service blueprints (Bitner et al., 2012; Roberts, 2022). In both examples, authors outlined the benefits of service blueprinting as an approach that encourages crosscollaboration across organizational silos. This approach places learners at the center of student services while taking into account the challenges faced by the institution, the biggest being resourcing (Baranova et al., 2011; Bitner et al., 2012; Roberts, 2022).

Another example of the use of Service Design is a study conducted on the experiences of international learners relocating to university campuses in Australia (Trischler & Scott, 2016). The study leveraged a variety of Service Design methodologies, including persona mapping and journey mapping. The researcher worked closely with key stakeholders from across the institution, including learners, to better understand the end-to-end journey, while identifying critical moments in their journey for the institution to enhance (Trischler & Scott, 2016).

Despite the limited literature on the use of Service Design within the postsecondary sector, Service Design has emerged as a powerful method in recent years to improve the experiences of users in both the private and public sector. In Canada, much research has been conducted to highlight the value of Service Design in improving public services, most notably in the Health sector (Hulsey & Zawislak, 2022; Mucz & Gareau-Brennan, 2017; Ontario Palliative Care Network, 2017). Research on the applications of Service Design have also predominantly been conducted in universities rather than colleges. There has been limited documentation of the use of Service Design in both universities and colleges in Canada as literature found predominantly focuses on other regions where Service Design is already being explored as a method.

Gaps in Literature:

The literature review ultimately uncovered several gaps in knowledge on this research topic. Currently, there is limited documentation on how services are developed within colleges in Ontario. While there is some literature on the use of theoretical frameworks and assessment frameworks that provide insightful context, research on these topics within an Ontarian context remains limited. Lastly, research on the use of Service Design in postsecondary education is generally scarce in both the Canadian and international context.

Research Objectives:

This research aims to contribute to existing literature by exploring the current processes, methods and tools used by student affairs practitioners when developing and enhancing student services in colleges in Ontario. This research also explores the potential of leveraging Service Design within a Canadian context and determines new ways for student affairs practitioners to develop, enhance and inform their practices by using a Service Design approach.

The research questions guiding this study are the following:

Primary Research Question:

• How might colleges in the GTA leverage Service Design to improve the experiences of learners?

Secondary Research Questions:

- What are the current approaches and methods used by colleges in the GTA to create programs and services?
- What are the challenges that colleges in the GTA currently face when creating student-centric services?
- What opportunities exist within the current system to enhance the development of programs and services for learners in GTA colleges?

Methodology and Approach

Research Approach

As outlined above, this study seeks to explore current practices on how programs and services are developed at colleges in the GTA, as well as how Service Design can be leveraged to improve the overall student experience. Given the objectives of this study, a qualitative approach was chosen to uncover insights on how programs and services are developed and the experiences of student affairs professionals when developing a program or service.

As part of this approach, student affairs practitioners were recruited in one of two ways. Firstly, student affairs practitioners were recruited through an open call to the general public, which required the completion of a screener questionnaire to ensure participants met specific criteria. Secondly, additional research participants were introduced to the study through a snowball (or network) approach, which involved reaching out to specific individuals to either serve as participants or recruit qualified participants (Tenzek, 2017). All recruited participants were screened to ensure they met the following criteria:

- Worked at a college in the GTA in the last year;
- Developed or oversaw programs and services for students;
- Were experienced with collaborating with other departments across their college.

This study did not require that participants have a prior understanding of Service Design. Recruited participants who met the above criteria were asked to participate in a one-hour, virtual, semi-structured interview. Participants were asked a specific set of questions, with various additional follow-up questions based on their answers (Appendix A). As part of these questions, participants were asked how they develop student programs and services and what their thoughts are on the Service Design methodology and tools (e.g. journey mapping, persona mapping, service blueprint). The long format of interviews allowed for a deep understanding of how programs and services are currently being developed in GTA colleges and explored the potential ways in which Service Design could be used to develop student programs and services.

Study Sample

The participants for this study consisted of sixteen (16) student affairs practitioners working across Centennial College, George Brown College, Humber College, Seneca College and Sheridan College. Participants included both administrative and support staff in these colleges. Study participants also had an array of experiences working in colleges outside of the GTA, as well as in the university sector. Some of the recruited student affairs practitioners had been working in the field for as long as 50 years. All participants were currently or recently involved in the development of student services in GTA colleges. Participants had experiences in developing programs and services in Career Services, Library & Learning Services, Registrarial Services, Student Life and Student Wellness departments.

Study Limitations

Despite an extensive literature review and rich feedback from study participants on the current practices within Student Services departments in GTA colleges, this study is not without limitations. The following limitations were identified in the development and execution of this study.

Sample Groups - Due to time constraints, this study only sought to interview student affairs professionals. This was justified by the core role these individuals play in the development of student services in GTA colleges. However, this study would have benefited from consultations with other participant groups. Incorporating the perspectives of learners would have allowed for a deeper understanding of their experiences using student services. In turn, this may have pointed to additional opportunities for improvements to student services development using Service Design. Furthermore, engaging with experts in the field of Service Design, specifically in the public sector, could have provided deeper insights on best practices and highlighted challenges the postsecondary space should anticipate as it relates to the adoption of Service Design. Lastly, engaging with student affairs organizations and quality assurance bodies to learn more about the technical nuances related to developing student services could have also positively contributed to the insights outlined herein.

Accessibility and availability of literature - Due to resource limitations, access to research materials was predominantly limited to open-source databases and publicly available information on the postsecondary education space. Some existing materials on approaches to developing student services may not have been included in the earlier literature review as a result. As outlined in earlier sections, there was a limited amount of literature on the use of Service Design within colleges in Canada.

Qualitative Approach - This study took on an exploratory approach, focusing on what tools, processes and methodologies are employed in the development of student services. As a result of this exploratory approach, this study did not quantitatively capture the prevalence of any given tool, process or methodology over another in the development of student services in colleges in the GTA.

Research Finding and Sense-Making

Service Development and Perspectives on Applications of Service Design

Data collected from interviews were anonymized and explored through an inductive thematic analysis in which participant responses were grouped to identify common themes and patterns. This approach was chosen to allow for the exploration of participants' responses without imposing a framework through which ideas should be interpreted, allowing instead for themes to emerge naturally and drive the overall findings of this study (Mihas, 2022). Findings from this analysis are presented as common themes. No quotations of participant responses were used to avoid identifying any specific individual. The titles held by participants are referred to in general terms (e.g. administration staff and support staff) throughout this paper for the same reason.

Theme 1: Roles and Organizational Structures Influence the Development of Programs and Services.

Reporting Structure of Student Services

Notable differences pertaining to reporting structures and student services arose in conversations with participants. Nearly all participants emphasized the impact that organizational structures have on the development and delivery of student services. Administration staff highlighted that the hierarchical placement of Student Affairs divisions is usually indicative of the importance allotted to student services within a given organization. Support staff shared the impacts that organizational structures may have on cross-collaboration in the development and delivery of student services. Most participants noted that their institutions have either undergone recent organizational shifts or were currently undergoing some sort of organizational restructuring.

Another structural difference between GTA colleges is the various titles held by those at the helm of Student Affairs divisions. Two out of the five GTA colleges do not have a Dean of Students, opting instead to have an Associate Vice President (AVP) of Students. Notably, Centennial College and Humber College have both combined the roles of AVP and Dean of Students. Some participants noted that the AVP title added importance to the Dean of Students role, which may in turn allow the role to further support organizational decision-making and the overall direction for student success.

In regard to the organizational location of student services within these institutions, most student services were consistently clustered under the Student Affairs (often referred to as Student Success) divisions of these colleges. Some student services had historically moved in and out of Student Affairs divisions, including Careers & Cooperative Education services, as well as Library Services. Other student services were consistently located outside of Student Affairs divisions in each institution. Student-facing services offered by I.T. departments, customer service (e.g., call center), digital technology and marketing and communications were all located outside of the Student Affairs divisions.

Responsibilities Vary and Involve Different Proximity to the Learner

When sharing key tasks and responsibilities related to their roles, there was a clear delineation between the responsibilities of administration staff and support staff among participants, illustrated in table 2. The roles held by administration staff and support staff could be grouped into learner-facing and non-learner-facing roles. Learner-facing roles consist of roles in which staff are directly engaging with learners. Non-learner-facing roles consist of roles in which staff are not working directly with learners. The learner-facing or non-learning-facing attribute of their positions appeared to be central to how participants viewed their roles within their respective institutions. Participants utilized this attribute to describe their proximity to learners and their needs.

Table 2. Roles and Responsibilities of Student Affairs Practitioners and Proximity to Learners

Role	Proximity to learner	Responsibilities
Administration - Executive	Non-learner-facing Lower levels of interaction with learners, higher levels of interaction with staff and other internal stakeholders.	Handle complex cases on learners that have been escalated; Set priorities & strategic direction of programs and services; Allocate budget; Direct programs and services.
Administration - Management (e.g., Directors & Managers)	Non-learner-facing Lower levels of interaction with learners, higher levels of interaction with other executive members, academic staff (e.g., program chairs, deans) and their own respective teams.	Handle complex cases on learners that have been escalated; Actively build and maintain relationships across college divisions; Support staff who are managing programs; Direct programs and services.
Administration - Support Staff (e.g., Assessment Coordinators, Communication Coordinators)	Non-learner-facing Indirectly impacting learners, but working predominantly with stakeholders across the college (e.g., faculty, support staff). Only work with learners as needed.	Develop and deliver programs for faculty and staff who are learner- facing; Actively build and maintain relationships across college divisions; Enhance existing programs within portfolios using an assessment framework.
Support Staff (e.g., coordinators, advisors)	Learner-facing Programs delivered within a given service area are directly provided to learners.	Deliver programs and services to learners; Support and guide faculty with learner-facing initiatives; Actively build and maintain relationships across college divisions; Enhance existing programs within portfolios using an assessment framework.

Theme 2: Current Approaches and Methods to Program and Service Development Vary Widely.

Various Approaches and Methods to Create a Program or Service

As part of the interview process, participants outlined the ways in which student programs and services are developed, walking through their preferred approaches, practices, tools and methods. Services appeared to be generally divided into long-standing, traditional service areas (e.g., counselling, academic services) and new service areas, which include programs that have been developed much more recently (e.g., peer mentorship, first generation programs). New programs and services were noted to be developed in four ways:

- 1. Program development as a result of government grants or grants provided by a provincial organization, in which guidelines for the development of the program or service are usually outlined by the grant itself;
- 2. Program development as a result of directives that "comes from the top," with executive leadership calling for a net new program in a specific service area and informing the program direction;
- 3. Program development (including events and workshops) as a result of an unmet learner need identified by learner-facing staff, usually referred to as a gap in student services;
- 4. Program enhancement through feedback received from various formal and informal sources.

Identifying Gaps in Services

Participants shared that gaps in student services are identified in a variety of ways and are often the drivers for the development of new programs or changes to existing services. All participants stated that anecdotal data from staff is one of the primary ways by which gaps are identified, referencing on-the-ground observations from support staff and faculty members in direct contact with learners. Complaints and direct feedback from learners themselves were another common means by which gaps in services were identified. In addition to these informal mechanisms, several formal feedback mechanisms were highlighted by participants, such as year-end surveys, program assessments, focus groups, as well as other institution-wide assessment initiatives. Gaps could also be identified using sources outside of their college, such as government reports and newly published research.

Inconsistencies emerged in the answers of participants as it related to the stakeholder group who most often identified gaps in student programs and services. Most support staff participating in this study stated that new programs tended to be prescribed by college leadership and usually tied into the institution's strategic objectives. In contrast, participating administration staff generally noted that gaps in student programs and services were brought to their attention by both leadership and support staff.

Problem Definition

Once a gap has been identified among an institution's student services, few steps appear to be taken prior to the development of a new program or service. Some participants stated that they would take stock of existing programs and services at their college before beginning with program development. Most participants in administrative positions noted that they would assess the resource requirements of a new program or services to determine whether offering the program or service would require additional resources and funding. Few participants stated that they would run stakeholder consultations to further define the problem at hand and understand the needs of learners prior to program development. Furthermore, few participants noted validating the gap through other data sources within the institution. Overall, measures to define the gap in student services appear somewhat sparse and inconsistent across GTA colleges.

Solutioning

Participants shared a variety of different ways by which programs and services are developed once a gap in student services is identified. Some participants stated they would engage in brainstorming sessions with the staff on their teams.

Various ideas to address the gap in question would be exchanged as part of these sessions, with the ultimate solution being determined by way of consensus. Other participants noted that they would either come up with their own ideas or develop programming around an idea shared by learners. In general, approaches to solutioning around a gap in student services varied across participants and were not guided by a standard framework, especially in regard to the degree of consultation with learners and other staff members.

Planning & Developing

Participants varied in their approaches to service development once a solution to a gap in student services had been determined. Some participants noted that when developing a program or service, they would start by identifying its ideal state and work backwards to identify the components of the service. Others noted that they would instead start by mapping out the components of the service, such as its location, purpose and core activities. Several participants shared that they would identify resources required for the program (e.g., staffing, funding, materials) as part of the program development process. They may reach out to other departments to pool resources and find ways to collaborate on the program or service.

Most participants would also ensure that the program or service could be connected to the college's institutional priorities and strategic goals. Participants stated that they would establish learning outcomes and develop metrics to determine the service's success, with attendance, engagement and learning metrics being the most commonly mentioned metrics. Ultimately, these participants sought to ensure that quality assurance data for the program would be available to ensure it could be improved over time. While most participants noted that they would establish metrics and learning outcomes for their program or service, few mentioned the use of specific frameworks such as Canadian Association of College & University Student Services (CACUSS) competencies, Council for the Advancement of Standards in Higher Education (CAS) competencies, National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (NASPA) competencies, program matrix, outcome matrix, situational analysis or student

development theory.

Participants specifically noted that they would consider who the program or service should be catered to and where within the student journey the program or service should be offered. To this end, many participants concerned themselves with positioning the program or service at a point in the student journey that would minimize barriers for learners and ensure cohesiveness with the overall student experience. Some also noted that, at times, they may draw inspiration from similar programs offered at other colleges, while also engaging with other practitioners to learn about lessons learned from other programs and services. The involvement of learners in the program development process depended largely on access to learners and resourcing. Some participants shared the value of having student staff and co-op students on their teams to offer feedback throughout the program development process. All in all, few participants stated that learners are consistently included in the service development process. However, the use of pilots to test new programs and services and get preliminary insights and feedback on their potential success were noted at two out of the five GTA colleges.

When speaking to whether or not they had identified a standard approach to service development, participants stated that processes could vary widely from one student affairs practitioner to another. While participants had their set way of developing programs, they acknowledged that their approach is not standard across their institution.

Theme 3: Structural Barriers Hinder the Development of Programs and Services.

Silos and Duplication of Programs

Several participants stated that organizational silos within their respective institutions posed a challenge when developing programs and services. Participants discussed disconnects between various areas at their college and mentioned difficulties fostering collaboration between them. Many participants
also noted that staff turnover related to the COVID-19 pandemic had caused an erosion of relationships between departments. This made it more challenging to identify the right stakeholder to involve in the development process for a given program or service. Some participants noted that in some cases, departments would opt to work on their own rather than collaborate with another department.

Participants generally recognized that each student affairs practitioner has their own specialization and that this can impact their ability to holistically approach issues that affect learners in multiple areas of the college. Nevertheless, most participants noted that efforts were being made by their respective institutions to promote cross-departmental collaboration.

A related challenge identified by participants included not having access to a centralized list of existing programs and services at their institution. This made it difficult to avoid duplication of programs and services from occurring. Participants also stated that this made it difficult to keep track of existing gaps in programs and services raised to leadership, as well as which key stakeholders to work with.

Bureaucracy and Outdated Systems and its Impacts on Services

Participants with administration roles discussed bureaucratic challenges related to resourcing when developing programs and services. Most participants noted a decrease in funding over the last several years. Those in charge of program delivery stated that reduced funding had impacted the incentives that would be typically provided to learners (e.g., food, giftcards, branded items) to garner engagement. Several participants highlighted that funding pressures on their departments have made it increasingly difficult to develop compelling business cases for new and existing programs and services. In turn, this made it challenging to ensure sufficient resources are in place for programs and services to remain effective and impactful.

Other challenges identified by participants included outdated technologies impacting the delivery of programs and services. Participants specifically remarked that technologies such as older enrolment management systems, messaging systems and course registration systems impacted the learner experience. Outdated backend systems also prevent a seamless experience for learners and cost-prohibitive upgrades to these systems make it challenging to develop business cases for improved digital experiences.

Participants shared that insufficient data infrastructure posed difficulties when determining how to promote programs and services among learners, as well as whether to deliver services through in-person, hybrid or hyflex models. As a result, a trial-and-error approach is taken, determining the best mediums through which specific programs and services are delivered.

Servicing Learners can be Reactive and Impact Resources

Participants identified challenges related to reactive programming when a proactive approach to planning for programs and services could be more effective and less time consuming. They found that programs and services were sometimes developed to meet newly identified learner needs without consideration for the pressures these programs and services may place on existing resources. While staff may be happy to take on new programs and services, they often find themselves under-resourced and unable to take a strategic approach to program development. In some cases, participants felt that under-resourcing affected their ability to seek out feedback from learners on programs and services. Participants voiced that while a proactive approach may be more difficult to implement, it would allow them to better address gaps in programs and services as they arise. Participants noted that the summer semester was often less busy due to the learner intake cycle and allowed for this kind of planning to take place.

Theme 4: Current Applications of Services Design to Develop Programs and Services are Present but Sparse.

Familiarity with Service Design

As part of the interview process, participants were asked whether or not they were familiar with Service Design. Table 3 summarizes participant responses to this question.

Table 3. Participant familiarity with Service Design

Familiar with Service Design	Participants
Yes	1
Somewhat	2
No	13

Infrequent Applications of Service Design

Upon stating their degree of familiarity with Service Design, participants were provided with a definition of Service Design and a summary of commonly used tools within the field of Service Design. Several respondents recognized some of these tools, and some shared their use of design thinking and human-centered design as part of their work. Participant responses suggested the use of journey mapping, service blueprinting or persona mapping at four colleges in the GTA to understand the needs of learners and their overall journey. Some participants identified persona mapping as a user experience (UX) method, while others identified it as a Service Design method. Participants stated that they had witnessed these methods be employed by both student affairs practitioners and external consultants. Those who had personally used persona mapping shared that it had provided them with a deeper understanding of learners' needs and experiences, and helped build empathy. As for the use of journey mapping, participants familiar with this tool found that it had provided them with more clarity on where their programs may fit within the overall learner journey and how they may ensure that they are meeting learner needs.

Theme 5: Student Affairs Practitioners Recognize the Potential of Service Design, but Foresee Barriers to Implementation.

Perceptions of Applying Service Design

After being provided with a definition of Service Design, participants were asked about their perspectives on the potential of Service Design methods applied in a student affairs setting. In addition, they were asked about the challenges they anticipate would need to be resolved in order to put Service Design into practice in their respective institutions. Overall, participants stated that Service Design had familiar elements, with some noting that they felt they were already unknowingly incorporating elements of Service Design into their work. Participants recognized that Service Design methods provided more structure and a framework to better see the entire learner journey, understand learner needs and make informed decisions. When talking about Service Design tools, participants noted that these tools could also support decision-making. In addition to being able to view the learner journey as a whole, participants discussed the possibility of using Service Design methods to humanize the learner experience and explore service areas from the learner's point of view.

Capacity & Resourcing

Participants noted that current program cycles, where programs are delivered every semester, made it difficult to slow down and plan ahead. They suggested that this pace of program delivery offered little bandwidth for staff to make use of methods like Service Design. Some participants remarked that certain learner journeys (most notably the journey of international learners) are constantly changing. This made it difficult to find time for strategic planning given the constant effort required to keep up with constant change. In light of the resource constraints already faced by some participants, some wondered whether the benefits of leveraging Service Design could be justified given the potential time and effort associated with using such a method.

Support from Leadership & Change Management

Participants shared that in order for Service Design methods to be successfully implemented, support from leadership would be required. Without buy-in for these methods from a staff with sufficient authority in the organization, the adoption of Service Design would be limited. In order for Service Design to be adopted as a set of methods, a leadership-induced shift in organizational culture may also be required to change the ways in which programs and services are being developed and enhanced. Ultimately, a broader change management exercise may be required.

Many participants discussed both top-down and bottom-up approaches to introducing Service Design to their respective institutions. Regardless of which approach might be adopted, participants recognized that Service Design would need to be introduced in a way that is non-threatening to support staff and provides them with the tools and resources necessary to make full use of Service Design methods. Some participants suggested introducing Service Design within one department to start, and iterating on successes within that department to demonstrate the value of the methodology. To add, participants expected potential resistance from some staff to a new methodology without any prior communication and information on Service Design. Participants suggested that strong communication on how Service Design is to be implemented and what it will look like for the organization would be beneficial.

Education & Capacity Building

Participants with support staff positions stated that in order for them to make use of Service Design, they would need to be empowered by their manager to seek out professional development related to Service Design. Participants noted that they would want this professional development to cover how to use Service Design tools. Several participants also expressed an interest in having an expert available to help them gain a baseline understanding of Service Design and how it may or may not impact their roles. In addition, these participants noted existing constraints on their time and capacity, highlighting again the value of having the support from a Service Design expert that could guide them.

Participants who had engaged with Service Design previously noted that having dedicated resources to put Service Design methods into practice may be beneficial. They suggested having "innovation teams" or "Service Design experts" that could be responsible for the implementation of Service Design practices across different areas of the institution. These participants also highlighted the importance of considering how Service Design should be introduced within their colleges. They expressed that if introduced carelessly, some college staff may feel that Service Design initiatives are taking away from their jobs. Lastly, they identified a risk related to Service Design only being superficially adopted by departments.

Overall, several methods, processes and challenges were identified by participants when discussing their current approaches to developing programs and services. The findings from interviews served to inform the development of a series of system archetypes to further illustrate the challenges that student services face in GTA colleges.

From Findings to Insights: System Archetypes as a Method for Sense-Making

This section outlines key insights surfaced using a systems thinking approach to gain a deeper understanding of patterns of behaviour in the development of programs and services in GTA colleges. Meadows (2008) defines a system as "an interconnected set of elements that is coherently organized in a way that achieves something" (p. 11). Identifying the components of a system and the relationships between them can provide further insights on their purpose or function.

Of the array of available tools used to analyse systems, system archetypes were selected to provide a deeper understanding of patterns of behaviour within GTA colleges, while also diagnosing challenges from the findings (Kim, 1992). Braun (2002) describes system archetype as common "patterns of behavior that emerge from the underlying system structure" (p. 25). They can help diagnose recurring challenges within a system and suggest effective remedies that take into account the structural constraints faced by the system. To illustrate patterns of behaviour within a system, system archetypes are represented in the form of causal loop diagrams. Simply put, causal loop diagrams illustrate the effects that one part of a system can have on another part of the system (Betley et al., 2021). These effects are represented in the forms of arrows, as shown in figure 3.

Figure 3. Example of a Causal Loop Diagram for College Enrollment



An arrow accompanied by a plus (+) sign indicates that an increase in the first part of the system will result in an increase in the second part of the system. An arrow accompanied by a minus (-) sign indicates that an increase in the first part of the system will result in a decrease in the second part of the system. As an example, the causal loops in figure 3 illustrate a basic system where an increase in enrollment results in an increase in the learner population, while an increase in graduations results in a decrease in the learner population.

For the purposes of this study, two specific system archetypes were identified and help illustrate challenges within GTA colleges: the Fixes that Fail archetype and the Growth & Underinvestment archetype (Kim, 1992). These were built upon by using research findings and existing literature on student services. These system archetypes were developed to introduce three phenomena observed within GTA colleges as it relates to the development of student service:

- 1. Inconsistent approaches that fail to meet the needs of learners;
- 2. Reactive programming and pressure on resourcing;
- 3. Perception of student services and downstream impacts.

Inconsistent Approaches that Fail to Meet the Needs of Learners

Approaches to developing and enhancing programs and services largely vary from one student affairs practitioner to another. The approaches that practitioners choose can be based on a number of factors, as practitioners have varying degrees of expertise in student affairs and access to different knowledge and tools (e.g., student development theory, assessment and evaluation). Approaches differ across practitioners within the same institution, confirming that there is no set standard way of approaching the development of new programs and services. Of the tools and methods used by practitioners to develop programs and services, only some Service Design methods were used. These were usually accompanied by cross-collaboration and further problem framing through the use of informal and formal sources of data. However, one of the most common tools mentioned by study participants is program assessment to identify new gaps and inform changes to existing programs. Despite there being multiple mechanisms by which informal and formal data is used, there appears to be few mechanisms that centralizes and triangulates metrics. Learners are not typically part of the design process of a solution that is meant to meet their needs. Instead, they typically identify the problem and have the program delivered to them. Learners who work in student service areas such as co-op students or interns may be asked to validate an idea that is created by staff, but are still not part of the solutioning process.

The dynamics outlined above can be captured in a single system archetype -Fixes that Fail. The Fixes that Fail archetype illustrates a system dynamic in which a problem symptom repeatedly arises and is promptly alleviated through a temporary measure (Kim, 1992). In time, the unintended consequences of the temporary measure emerge, causing the original problem symptom to re-appear with possibly greater severity. From there, the temporary measure is employed yet again and the Fixes that Fail cycle repeats itself. Kim (1992) notes that Fixes that Fail archetypes most commonly appear in situations in which the problem symptom is particularly bothersome, causing the actors within the system to rush to address it, often without reflection on the consequences of their fix.

Figure 4. Fixes that Fail Archetype | Failing to Meet the Needs of Learners through Program Changes



The Fixes that Fail archetype in figure 4 highlights the immediate effects and the ripple effects of developing programs and services without sufficient involvement from learners. In this archetype, unmet learner needs are identified and institutions address these needs by developing new programs and services, or by changing existing programs and services. If programs are developed too quickly and without sufficient involvement from learners, ripple effects can emerge at a later date in the form of further unmet learner needs.

How institutions go about developing new programs and services in this archetype influences the degree to which identified learner needs are met. As discovered in this study, GTA colleges often face several challenges when involving learners in the service development process. In many cases, the only learners involved in the service development process were learners hired as interns or co-op students. In addition, few institutions use pilots to obtain early feedback on new programs within service areas prior to launch. As a result, much of the input obtained at the solutioning stage of developing a new program incorporates limited insights on learners. In the immediate, learner needs are met by a new program or service or through a change to existing programs or service offering. However, the perspectives and needs of learners who were not incorporated into the service development process are overlooked. In turn, this leads to the needs of these excluded learners being unmet, causing the cycle to repeat itself.

Critical Moments to Influence Change

To overcome the ripple effects observed in a Fixes that Fail archetype, Kim and Anderson (2011) recommend "look[ing] for connections between the unintended consequences and the fundamental causes of the problem symptom" (p. 15). In the case of this specific archetype, a connection emerges between the failure to consider the experiences of some learners and their unmet needs. Although regular assessments can allow for learner voices to inform program enhancements and new programming, other complementary approaches can take into account the holistic learner journey. Bitner et al., (2012) notes that: "[learners] have key roles to play in co-creating the value they ultimately experience or make use of. In the context of higher education, this means that colleges and universities exist to serve [learners], communities, and society at large. Further, unless value is created for and with [learners] first, there can be no value to communities, society at large, or the future. Value is co-created by [learners], not delivered to them, and it is the role of administrators, educators, policy-makers, and managers to facilitate this educational value co-creation." (p. 40)

Service Design can be leveraged as a methodology to incorporate multiple stakeholders in the service development process. It can be used to understand the endto-end learner journey and co-design with learners so that they can be involved in shaping their experiences (Baranova et al., 2011).

Reactive Programming and Pressure on Resourcing

Participants appeared to label approaches to developing student services as being either reactive or proactive. A reactionary approach to developing student services may seek to promptly solve for the immediate problem that has been expressed by students, with limited involvement from various stakeholders. While this approach may address the gap at hand, this study found that it may impact overall resourcing and capacity among student affairs staff.

Based on participant responses in this study, reactive approaches may be a result of top-down instructions for the development of student programs and services without sufficient assessment of whether the identified gap in services warrants a new program or service. This reactionary approach to program development may lead to duplication of programs and services altogether. In turn, duplication of programming contributes to exacerbating existing silos between departments instead of encouraging collaboration on program and service development.

Existing research by Seifert et al. (2011) suggests that collaboration is more likely to occur when staff have existing relationships with others in different divisions and departments. However, the COVID-19 pandemic appears to have eroded many of these existing relationships, which may explain downstream impacts

on collaboration. Based on participant responses, there was no central inventory of student programs and services and their responsible departments identified, limiting potential for collaboration when gaps are identified.

Figure 5. Fixes that Fail Archetype | Reactive Programming and Pressure on Resourcing



The Fixes that Fail archetype shown in figure 5 highlights the immediate effects, as well as the ripple effects, of reactive programming within GTA colleges. In this archetype, unmet learner needs are identified by leadership or by support staff through existing feedback mechanisms. Student Affairs departments react to meet these unmet needs by developing new programs and services or by making changes to existing programs and services. This is generally done in a reactive manner, with limited involvement from learners. As found in this study, student affairs practitioners often struggle to identify whether there is a program or service in place to meet a need due to lack of accessible information about

programs and services across the organization. Furthermore, student affairs practitioners often develop services in a silo due to challenges collaborating with other departments. The weak relationships between departments due to staff turnover tend to exacerbate this issue. To add, funding pressures on departments pose barriers to the prompt addition of resources to support new programs and services, causing them to deliver more programs and services with the same resources.

Due to the above, reactive programming appears to have two impacts within this system. On the one hand, the newly developed or updated program or service meets the immediate needs of learners, providing a quick relief. In addition, assessment frameworks are put in place to allow for future learner feedback to be gathered and to monitor the program or service against its objectives. On the other hand, reactive programming appears to have a delayed impact on student affairs staff in the form of pressure on capacity to deliver student services. While a quick solution may have been developed, the underlying problem related to learner needs may persist or worsen over time, which may have additional consequences and present itself elsewhere in other spaces.

In the worst of cases, it may even affect the institutions' reputation. Because the new program or service was developed without taking stock of existing programs and services in the institution, duplication of programs and services occur. This causes staff to deliver more programs and services than required (or expected), which impacts the time and energy available for them to meet needs of learners through existing programs and services. This ultimately leads to new issues in which the needs of learners are unmet, causing the cycle of reactive programming to start again.

Critical Moments to Influence Change

Kim & Anderson (2011) identify several strategies that may be employed to overcome the challenges posed by a Fixes that Fail archetype. Providing student affairs practitioners with the tools and visibility required to avoid duplication of programming and increase cross-departmental collaboration could reduce pressures on staff and could avoid unintended consequences that come about from reactive programming. This could be done by leveraging Service Design to develop service blueprints across the institution, providing student affairs staff with a clear view of what programs and services are currently available to meet the needs of learners. (Bitner et al., 2012; Roberts, 2022; Baranova et al., 2011). Service blueprints are a tool that encourages teams to cross-collaborate to address identified problems holistically. By mapping out key touchpoints and identifying learner needs and the interactions between stakeholders (e.g., faculty, staff, leadership staff), blueprints help further refine the underlying problem. They also help identify opportunities to address the needs of learners holistically, while also meeting the priorities of the institution and identifying what resources are required to address the problem at hand (Bitner et al., 2012; Roberts, 2022; Baranova et al., 2011).

Perception of Student Services and Downstream Impacts

Based on the insights shared by study participants, it appears that underinvestment in student services has had a negative impact on holistically meeting the needs of learners, in spite of growing enrollment. This is consistent with remarks made by Colleges Ontario (2022b), highlighting that full-time enrolment growth has far outpaced the moderate increases in provincial funding to colleges in Ontario. The reasons for this underinvestment in student services could potentially be explained by the lack of data infrastructure and strong assessment frameworks in place to showcase the value of student programs and services. Insufficient data to showcase the value of student services may impact existing funding structures, or business cases for new programs and services. Participants named several means by which data on student programs and services were collected, both informally and formally. However, few mentioned how this data was leveraged to produce reporting that illustrates the importance of services and their impact on student success. Additionally, in absence of strong reporting, this data may not ultimately inform resourcing decisions made by senior leaders within an institution.

A valuable system archetype for understanding the dynamics of underinvestment

in student services is the Growth & Underinvestment archetype. This archetype captures the tension between growth and the pressures it places on performance (Kim, 1992). As a given system undergoes growth, the resources in place to support that growth become less and less effective, causing performance to fall. The system is then forced to choose between investing in the resources required for it to continue growing, or hold off. If investments are delayed, performance continues to fall, eventually affecting growth. Kim (1992) remarks that in several cases, the diminishing effectiveness of the existing resources is used to justify delaying the necessary investments in these resources.

Figure 6. Growth & Underinvestment | Perception on Student Services and Downstream Impacts



The Growth & Underinvestment archetype shown in figure 6 illustrates how growth in enrollment can place pressures on student programs and services, and in turn contribute to recurring underinvestment in them. As a college invests in its recruitment efforts, its student population size is expected to grow. In turn, having a greater number of learners at the college contributes to greater demand for support services and programs, thus adding pressure on student affairs professionals working to support a larger student population. The ability of existing student programs and services to meet the needs of learners is directly impacted as a result. The relationship between the number of learners at a given institution and the institution's ability to meet learner needs through student programs and services requires further research to be validated. Despite this, available metrics show rising enrollment in GTA colleges over the past decade and low utilization of student services during the same period (Dietsche, 2012; Veres, 2015). While this suggests a possible negative relationship between enrollment and student services utilization, further research would be required to confirm this relationship.

When the effectiveness of student programs and services in meeting learners' needs decreases, the perceived need to invest in student services increases. This archetype illustrates that this perceived need to invest in student services can be managed in one of two ways, both of which depend on the perceived value of student services within the institution. If the perceived value of student services is high, then investments in student services may eventually take place, giving student affairs practitioners access to more resources. In turn, this increases their ability to meet student needs through programs and services, which reduces attrition and positively contributes to the size of the student population. However, if the perceived value of student services is low, then reduced investment into student services eventually takes place, which further limits the resources available to student affairs practitioners. This then reduces their ability to meet learner needs, which increases attrition and decreases the size of the student population.

Based on the insights shared by study participants, the latter scenario better depicts the current dynamics at play in GTA colleges. Several participants shared

that funding in student services at their respective institutions appeared to have been decreasing over the past years, despite rising enrollment. Further, some participants emphasized how challenging it was to develop compelling business cases for additional funding due to complex bureaucracy and limited access to necessary data.

Critical Moments to Influence Change

The Growth & Underinvestment system archetype highlights a clear reinforcing loop that should be closely investigated to improve student success: an increase in the perceived value of student services causes an increase in investments in student services, which causes an increase in student success, which increases the perceived value of student services, and so on. Service Design can help increase the impact and effectiveness of student programs and services in a variety of ways to drive the perceived value of these services within the institution. While colleges may not view customer service as being a high priority for them, Keith (2005) emphasizes the ways in which a client-centric approach is critical for colleges to adopt if they wish to drive enrollment and access funding. Moritz (2005) identifies a variety of ways in which Service Design can do exactly this:

- Greater impact using existing resources Service Design can support colleges by informing how existing resources should be maximized to increase efficiency when learners access services.
- Increased efficiency Incorporating Service Design tools into program and service development can provide a deeper understanding of learner needs, surfacing ways in which these needs can be met without additional resourcing.
- Student experience as a differentiator for the institution Shaping service experience with the learners who use them throughout the design, development and execution of a program can ultimately drive enrollment.

This being said, sufficient data infrastructure is critical to capture the necessary data to showcase the impact of student services. Study participants echoed the fact that this data is critical to accessing funding for student services. Regardless of the actual impact of student programs and services, quantitative

and qualitative measures of this impact are necessary to ensure student services remain constantly supported.

Table 4 illustrates a summary of the challenges identified by these system archetypes, their impacts on student services and opportunities to leverage service design.

Table 4. Summary of Challenges and Opportunities to Leverage Service Design

Challenge	Impact	Opportunities for Service Design
Inconsistent approaches that fail to meet the needs of learners	Misalignment between learner needs and available programs or services. Lagging feedback from learners instead of upfront input.	Identify gaps in a holistic manner across various stages of a learner's journey. Involve learners in the problem framing and the co-design of programs and services.
Reactive programming and pressure on resourcing	Duplication of programs and services. Expansion of workloads beyond planned departmental capacity. Depletion of existing staff resources.	Encourage cross- departmental collaboration to address problems holistically. Utilize Service Design tools such as service blueprints to map out key touchpoints with learners.
Perception on student services and downstream impacts	Devaluation of student programs and services. Financial pressures on Student Affairs departments.	Support business cases for resource allocation. Increase the efficiency and impact on the overall learner experience. Effectively translate the value of student services.

Recommendations and Conclusion

Evidence-Based Recommendations for Leveraging Service Design

Embracing Service Design holistically within student services could provide learners with a frictionless experience while considering all of the touchpoints that make up their journey. Several existing uses of Service Design tools have been revealed through this research. These tools are currently being leveraged as a way for practitioners to establish frameworks and methods to communicate challenges faced by learners when accessing and navigating services. Based on the learnings and challenges shared by student affairs practitioners, as well as existing literature, this section provides a series of evidence-informed recommendations for the Ontario college sector to leverage Service Design.

Invest in the resources and capacity

Service Design requires upfront resource investment to build capacity within student affairs and to ensure it is implemented and adopted effectively within college institutions. This will likely take the form of new roles within institutions, as well as training for those in existing roles.

Establish Service Design and design-related roles in student affairs - Over the years, specializations within student affairs and student development have emerged, including specialties in health and wellness, admissions, financial aid and housing (Tamburri, 2021; Cox & Strange, 2010). There is an opportunity to formalise Service Design as a practice in student affairs and create roles that enable individuals to be dedicated to introducing cohesive Service Design across the institution. Roles requiring individuals to be experienced in the development and execution of learner related programming exist, but there is a need for design-related roles to solidify the consistent and permanent use of Service Design across student services. Ultimately, it is important to build up long-term institutional capacity for Service Design through new roles to effectively make use of this methodology.

Invest and build the capacity for Service Design - Based on this research, student affairs practitioners are often looking for ways to build upon the practices and methods they use when developing student programming. It would be valuable to

provide practitioners with professional development opportunities to learn about Service Design, its benefits and applications. This would enable practitioners to not only champion the tool, but also look for opportunities to leverage Service Design within their own practice and across the institution.

Find Consistency in Leveraging the Use of Service Design Tools

There are a variety of Service Design tools that could be used in GTA colleges. Several student affairs practitioners have used them on a variety of projects, but it would be beneficial for Service Design tools to be used consistently and built into existing program and service development practices. Three Service Design tools that can be leveraged to support student services are persona mapping, journey mapping and service blueprinting. Using a combination of Service Design techniques will allow for a deeper and more holistic understanding of learner experiences (Trischler & Scott, 2016). To add, the use of some of these tools can provide college administrators with an understanding of processes and their impacts. This could support existing quality assurance reviews such as the College Quality Assurance Audit Process (CQAAP), and equip administrators with a holistic view on how their programs are running. It could also support the alignment of student services on the overall learner experience.

Understand learners through the use of personas - Colleges can unlock a far deeper and actionable understanding of the needs of learners by creating learner personas and identifying what learners are feeling, thinking and experiencing. Through qualitative interviews with learners, practitioners could develop persona maps to gain a better understanding of learners' lived experiences rather than focusing on learner experiences as it related to a specific isolated incident (Trischler & Scott, 2016).

Map out the journey of learners - Leverage journey mapping to gain an understanding of the end-to-end learner journey, from the moment they first learn about the college to the moment they graduate. This will provide administration with a view of the processes and experiences learners are feeling, thinking and doing, as well as identify critical moments, such as barriers or moments of friction in the journey (Trischler & Scott, 2016; Rains, 2017). This will inform areas of opportunities for student affairs to enhance the learner experience to set the college apart from other institutions (Trischler & Scott, 2016; Rains, 2017).

Develop a service blueprint - Service blueprinting is a powerful technique that provides a detailed and layered view of a service and how it is being delivered. It is often referred to as a "silo-breaking" tool, as it provides a detailed view of service delivery and brings together various stakeholder groups as part of the service blueprint development process (Baranova et al., 2011; Ostrom et al., 2011a). Stakeholders across the institution learn from each other as they develop a series of blueprints to map out a given service and understand its learner-facing components (e.g., accessing their timetables, campus services), non-learnerfacing components (e.g., backend technology, data management systems) and supporting processes (e.g., student records, human resources, marketing and communications). Research conducted on this tool notes that blueprints need to be updated consistently, especially when new changes have been implemented (Bitner et al., 2012; Roberts, 2022; Stephens, 2015; Ostrom et al., 2011a).

Find opportunities to co-design with learners - Learners do not appear to be often involved in the process of designing their service experience, and instead are asked for their input after the service development process. Involving learners as co-creators in Service Design activities or service development more generally can ensure that services are truly developed for the learners that are accessing them (Bitner et al., 2012; Trischler & Scott, 2016).

Focus on one department and grow - Existing literature on the use of service blueprinting in postsecondary services recommends focusing on using the tool in one department at first (Bitner et al., 2012; Roberts, 2022). This helps individuals focus on building the capacity to develop service blueprints without the complexities added by interplays with other departments. Participants in this study echoed this sentiment, recommending that Service Design tools be introduced to one department at first. This department could in turn become a champion for Service Design approaches and serve as a proof of concept for the value of Service Design in student affairs.

Incorporate Service Design as a strategic goal and institutional priority - As part of their process, student affairs practitioners noted the importance of tying student programs and services to institutional priorities and strategic goals. It is important that the priorities that inform the enhancement of student services be grounded in Service Design language so as to support the use of Service Design tools. Co-designing with learners, cross-collaborating with departments, understanding the end-to-end student journey are all Service Design techniques that should be incorporated into the institution's priorities to ensure that all relevant stakeholders are embracing a Service Design mindset.

Implications for Further Research

This study is among the first explorations of the use of Service Design in the development of student services. Its findings capture how services are currently developed by student affairs practitioners and indicate that the use of Service Design techniques are somewhat present within the sector currently. More broadly, this research highlights important opportunities for Service Design to be leveraged by bringing together stakeholders to develop and enhance services for learners.

Throughout this study, practitioners demonstrated great interest in learning about best practices for developing student programs and services, and showed a desire to know how services can be enhanced further. To add, literature on research, methods, and practices within a Canadian context appear to be limited, with several study participants mentioning that they sometimes take inspiration from student affairs in the United States. There is an abundance of opportunities to continue engaging with practitioners on this topic and to do more research that focuses on student services within a Canadian context.

To this end, recommendations for further research include: applications of service blueprinting, journey design and persona mapping within Canadian colleges, the impacts of Service Design on Canadian colleges' various service areas, as well as the effectiveness of Service Design in Canadian colleges. Other recommendations for further research unrelated to Service Design include: the role and impact of Dean of Students in student services, the impacts of organizational changes within Canadian colleges, the role of external student affairs organizations in the development of services, the effectiveness of student development theory, learning outcomes, the impact of centralized (as opposed to decentralized) departmental structures related to student services and assessment and evaluation in Canadian colleges.

Conclusion

This study set out to explore how colleges in the GTA might leverage Service Design to improve the experiences of learners by engaging with practitioners who oversee or develop student programs and services. By analysing the findings through a systems lens, system archetypes helped identify patterns of behaviour that impact service development. These system archetypes informed a series of recommendations for practitioners in the sector to leverage and implement Service Design. This study revealed that Service Design tools such as service blueprints, journey maps and persona maps are currently being used sporadically throughout colleges in the GTA. It finds that there is no standard way of developing student services among student affairs practitioners. Practitioners appear to face a variety of challenges when developing student services, including difficulties collaborating with other departments, siloed approaches to program development, rigid pre-existing processes and outdated technology. Study participants noted that the chosen approach to develop a program or service can vary depending on how the program or service is being funded and on who is instructing that the program or service be developed. Practitioners also cited a variety of approaches that inform the development of programs, such as ensuring that programs have learning outcomes, grounding programs in institutional priorities and measuring program success through an assessment framework.

Because there appears to be no standard way to develop and enhance programs and services, Service Design can play a valuable role in ensuring that services are being offered holistically and consider the needs of all learners by involving them in the service development process. Service Design can also equip student affairs practitioners with tools to be less reactive in their program development, allowing them to develop programs and services without duplicating efforts. It can also provide tools to departments to make their programs and services more effective, as well as better highlight the value of their programs and services to learners and decision makers within the institution. To reap the benefits that Service Design can offer, colleges in Ontario will likely need to invest in both short-term and long-term solutions. Institutions will have to invest in the learner experience by ensuring that services are being offered in a cohesive manner. Leveraging Service Design will require embedding Service Design language into colleges' strategic plans, as well as upfront investment in the resourcing required to build up institutional capacity to put Service Design into practice. Student affairs practitioners can then begin to further leverage Service Design tools to identify problems with programs and services and address them in a holistic manner. With tactful incorporation of Service Design into their existing practices, colleges in Ontario could set themselves apart as destinations for learning that provide a holistic experience for all learners.



Alexander, I. (2004). A Better Fit—Characterising the Stakeholders. 10.

American College Health Association. (2022). American College Health Association-National College Health Assessment III: Canadian Reference Group Executive Summary Spring 2022. <u>https://www.acha.org/documents/ncha/NCHA-III_SPRING_2022_CANADI-</u> <u>AN REFERENCE GROUP EXECUTIVE SUMMARY.pdf</u>

Astin, A. W. (1984). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. Journal of College Student Personnel, 25, 297–308.

Balintec, V. (2022, March 26). How the Russian invasion is cutting off much-needed funding to Ukrainian international students | CBC News [News]. CBC. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/</u>canada/toronto/ukrainian-international-students-help-tuition-1.6396020

Baranova, P., Morrison, S., & Mutton, J. (2011). Enhancing the student experience through service design. Perspectives: Policy and Practice in Higher Education, 15(4), 122–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603108.2011.599883</u>

Beattie, S. (2021, December 4). Ontario colleges' reliance on international student tuition "a risky formula," auditor general warns | CBC News. CBC. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/can-ada/toronto/ontario-colleges-reliance-on-international-student-tuition-a-risky-formu-la-auditor-general-warns-1.6272326</u>

Beeston, L. (2016, November 2). Nearly 40 per cent of Canadian post-secondary students experience 'food insecurity:' study [News]. Toronto Star. <u>https://www.thestar.com/news/gta/2016/11/02/nearly-40-per-cent-of-canadian-post-secondary-students-experience-food-insecurity-study.html</u>

Betley, E., Sterling, E. J., Akabas, S., Paxton, A., & Frost, L. (2021). Introduction to Systems and Systems Thinking. Network of Conservation Educators and Practitioners, Center for Biodiversity and Conservation, American Museum of Natural History, 11(1), 9–25.

Bitner, M. J., Ostrom, A. L., & Burkhard, K. A. (2012). Service Blueprinting: Transforming the Student Experience. 38–40.

Brady, J. (2017). Education for Whom?: Exploring Systems of Oppression and Domination. Canadian Journal for New Scholars in Education, 8(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.32920/21757916.</u> <u>v1</u>

Braun, W. (2002). System Archetypes. 26.

Buchanan, A. (2021, December 24). Holistic "Education for All": The Case for Student Services [Public Policy Publication]. PP+G REVIEW. <u>https://ppgreview.ca/2021/12/23/holistic-education-for-all-the-case-for-student-services/</u>

CACUSS/ASEUCC. (n.d.). CACUSS Handbook for New Professionals & New Members. https://cdn.ymaws.com/cacuss.ca/resource/resmgr/membership/cacuss_membership_ handbook20.pdf

CASA. (2022). The New Abnormal | Student Mental Health Two Years Into COVID-19 (p. 27). <u>https://assets.nationbuilder.com/casaacae/pages/3470/attachments/original/1664377984/Abacus_Report_2022_%281%29.pdf?1664377984</u>

Centennial College. (2023a). Centennial College—College Overview [College Website]. Centennial College. <u>http://www.centennialcollege.ca</u>

Centennial College. (2023b). Centennial College—International Students [College Website]. Centennial College. <u>http://www.centennialcollege.ca</u>

Centennial College. (2023c). Centennial College—Student Life [College Website]. Centennial College. <u>http://www.centennialcollege.ca</u>

Ciobanu, A. (2013). The Role of Student Services in the Improving of Student Experience in Higher Education. Logos Universality Mentality Education Novelty (LUMEN 2013), Iasi, Romania, 10-13 April 2013, 92, 169–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.08.654</u>

College Student Alliance. (2022a). International Student Survey (p. 31) [Student Survey]. College Student Alliance (CSA). <u>https://www.collegestudentalliance.ca/_files/ugd/0b1b-</u> <u>3b 84472fe744a44b1ebceaa3d2ced2f6d6.pdf</u>

College Student Alliance. (2022b). Return-to-Campus Student Survey (p. 33) [Student Survey]. College Student Alliance (CSA). <u>https://www.collegestudentalliance.ca/_files/ugd/0b1b3b_f059ff0645224659a472461dde2b3af0.pdf</u>

Colleges Libraries Ontario. (2020). College Libraries Ontario Telling our Story | COVID 19 Response. Colleges Libraries Ontario. <u>https://www.ocls.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/</u> <u>documents/College%20Libraries%20Ontario_Supporting%20COVID_2020_04_20_final.</u> <u>pdf</u>

Colleges Ontario. (2022a). Student and Graduate Profiles (Student and Graduate Profiles) [Environmental Scan]. <u>https://cdn.agilitycms.com/colleges-ontario/documents-li-</u> <u>brary/document-files/2022%20ES%20-%20Student%20and%20Graduate%20Pro-</u> <u>files 20220627192220 0.pdf</u> Colyar, J., Brumwell, S., & Deakin, J. (2022). Exploring Postsecondary Credentials and Labour Market Alignment in Ontario. The Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario, 33.

Colyar, J., Pichette, J., & Deakin, J. (2023). Matching Rapid Growth with Adequate Supports: How Colleges and Government Can Enhance International Student Experiences in Ontario. Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario. <u>https://heqco.ca/pub/matching-rap-</u> id-growth-with-adequate-supports-how-colleges-and-government-can-enhance-international-student-experiences-in-ontario/

Coulter, A., Sweeney, D., & Palombi, D. (2019). Understanding the Sheridan First Year Experience: An Integrated Approach. Division of Students, 60.

Cox, D. G. H., & Strange, C. C. (2010). Foundations of Student Services in Canadian Higher Education. In Achieving student success: Effective student services in Canadian higher education (pp. 19–36). McGill-Queen's University Press.

CQAAP. (2022). COLLEGE QUALITY ASSURANCE AUDIT PROCESS (CQAAP) | Guidelines and Framework. Ontario College Quality Assurance Service (OCQAS). <u>https://www.ocqas.</u> org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/CQAAP-Guidelines-and-Framework for-2022 2023.pdf

Davis, W. G. (1966). BASIC DOCUMENTS RELATING TO COLLEGES OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY. Information Branch, Ontario Department of Education. <u>https://cclp.mior.</u> ca/Reference%20Shelf/PDF_OISE/Basic%20Documents.pdf

Dennison, J. D. (1995d). Accountability: Mission Impossible? In Challenge and opportunity: Canada's community colleges at the crossroads (pp. 220–242). UBC Press.

Dennison, J. D. (1995a). Community College Development in Canada since 1985. In Challenge and opportunity: Canada's community colleges at the crossroads (pp. 13–104). UBC Press.

Dennison, J. D. (1995b). Introduction. In Challenge and opportunity: Canada's community colleges at the crossroads (pp. 3–12). UBC Press.

Dennison, J. D. (1995c). Organization and Function in Postsecondary Education. In Challenge and opportunity: Canada's community colleges at the crossroads (pp. 121–140). UBC Press.

Dennison, J. D., & Gallagher, P. (1986). Canada's community colleges: A critical analysis. University of British Columbia Press. Dietsche, P. (2012). Use of Campus Support Services by Ontario College Students. Canadian Journal of Higher Education, 42(3), 65–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.47678/cjhe.v42i3.2098</u>

Drea, C. (2004). Student Attrition And Retention In Ontario's Colleges. College Quaterly, 7(2), 7.

eCampusOntario. (2021). 2021 Foresight Report: Tomorrow's Learners (Foresight Report, p. 9) [Foresight Report]. eCampusOntario. <u>https://www.ecampusontario.ca/wp-content/</u>uploads/2021/11/Tomorrows-Learners-Tagged-20211029-1448.pdf

Esses, V., Sutter, A., Ortiz, A., Luo, N., Cui, J., & Deacon, L. (2018). Retaining International Students in Canada Post-Graduation: Understanding the Motivations and Drivers of the Decision to Stay. Canadian Bureau for International Education. <u>https://cbie.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Intl-students-post-graduation-RiB-8-EN-1.pdf</u>

Felix, E., & Lerner, C. (2017). The Why, What, When, Where, and How of Student Service Innovation. Planning for Higher Education Journal, 45(2), 54–120.

Finnie, R., Mueller, R. E., & Wismer, A. (2015). Access and Barriers to Postsecondary Education: Evidence from the Youth in Transition Survey. Canadian Journal of Higher Education, 45(2), 229–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.47678/cjhe.v45i2.2472</u>

Fricker, T. (2015). The Relationship between Academic Advising and Student Success in Canadian Colleges: A Review of the Literature. College Quaterly, 18(4), 15.

Gemmill, A. (2022, August 25). "I see a lot of red flags now," says international student unhappy with state of room rental | CBC News. CBC. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/</u>sudbury/international-student-off-campus-housing-cambrian-1.6561285

George Brown College. (2023a). Current International Students [College Website]. George Brown College. <u>https://www.georgebrown.ca/international/current-students</u>

George Brown College. (2023b). Services and Support Available to Students [College Website]. George Brown College. <u>https://www.georgebrown.ca/current-students/services</u>

Global Affairs Canada (GAC). (2018). Canada's Services Trade Performance (2018). Govenrment of Canada. <u>https://www.international.gc.ca/trade-commerce/economist-econ-</u><u>omiste/state_of_trade-commerce_international/special_feature-2018-article_special.</u> aspx?lang=eng Greenberg, L. (1999). Student Involvement: A Developmental Theory for Higher Education. Journal of College Student Development, 40(5). <u>https://www.middlesex.mass.edu/ace/</u><u>downloads/astininv.pdf</u>

Henning, G., Roberts, D. M., Bresciani, M. J., & Ludvik, B. J. (2016). Student affairs assessment: Theory to practice (First edition.). Stylus Publishing.

Holmes, S. L., Roedder, B. S., & Lamont, F. A. (2004). Applying Student Development Theory to College Students' Spiritual Beliefs. College Student Affairs Journal, 23(2), 16.

Hulsey, J., & Zawislak, K. (2022). Patient Journey Map | Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Recovery Experiences (p. 44). Addiction Policy Forum. <u>https://www.addictionpolicy.org/_files/ugd/079eb6_79b39cf8a965462ab9aaed8e9bd9faf1.pdf</u>

Humber College. (2022). Humber Student Success Survey (HSSS) [College Website]. Announcement. <u>https://humber.ca/strategicplanning/studentsurveyresults</u>

Humber College. (2023a). Student Services | International Centre [College Website]. Humber College. https://international.humber.ca/student-services.html Humber College. (2023b). We Got You | Student Life [College Website]. Humber. <u>https://</u> <u>humber.ca/student-life/</u>

James, T. (2010). Student Services in College. In Achieving student success: Effective student services in Canadian higher education (pp. 278–296). McGill-Queen's University Press.

Jenkins, A. (2022, August 7). Inflation means more food insecurity for Canada's post-secondary students [News]. York Region. <u>https://www.yorkregion.com/opinion/infla-</u> <u>tion-means-more-food-insecurity-for-canadas-post-secondary-students/article_</u> a11f61a3-c494-5137-a1dc-d8c383b7793f.html

Kazmi, A. (2010). Sleepwalking through Undergrad: Using Student Engagement as an Institutional Alarm Clock. College Quaterly, 13(1), 15.

Keith, J. (2005). Customer Service in Ontario's Colleges. College Quaterly, 8(4), 6.

Keung, N., Teotonio, I., & La Fleche, G. (2019, September 27). 'We think of them as cash cows.' International students want to immigrate, but colleges, employers want to boost their bottom lines. TorontoStar. <u>https://www.thestar.com/news/gta/2019/09/27/we-think-of-them-as-cash-cows-international-students-want-to-immigrate-but-colleges-employers-want-to-boost-their-bottom-lines.html</u>

Kim, D. H. (1992). System Archetypes I | Diagnosing Systemic Issues and Designing High-Leverage Interventions. Pegasus Communications. <u>https://thesystemsthinker.com/</u> wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Systems-Archetypes-I-TRSA01 pk.pdf

Kim, D. H., & Anderson, V. (2011). Systems Archetype Basics: From Story to Structure. Pegasus Communications, Inc, 196.

Klassen, T. (2012). Quality Assurance in Ontario's Postsecondary Education Sector. College Quaterly, 15(3), 11.

Laban, S., Jackson, E., Maynard, M., & A. Loring, P. (2020, June 12). Student food insecurity: A problem before, during and after COVID-19. University Affairs. <u>https://www.universi-tyaffairs.ca/opinion/in-my-opinion/student-food-insecurity-a-problem-before-during-and-after-covid-19/</u>

MacKay, K. (2014). Report on Education in Ontario Colleges. OPSEU. <u>https://opseu.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2014/05/caat-a_report_on_education_full_0.pdf

McGregor, A. (2021). The Diversity Challenge in Higher Education. The Journal of Educational Informatics, 2(2), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.51357/jei.v2i2.156

McInnis, C. (2004). Studies of Student Life: An overview. European Journal of Education, 39(4), 383–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3435.2004.00192.x</u>

Meadows, D. H. (2008). Thinking in systems: A primer. Chelsea Green Pub.

Michalski, J. H., Cunningham, T., & Henry, J. (2017). The Diversity Challenge for Higher Education in Canada: The Prospects and Challenges of Increased Access and Student Success. Humboldt Journal of Social Relations, 39, 66–89.

Mihas, P. (2022). Qualitative research methods: Approaches to qualitative data analysis. In R. J. Tierney, F. Rizvi, & K. Ercikan (Eds.), International Encyclopedia of Education (Fourth Edition) (pp. 302–313). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818630-5.11029-2

Ministry of Colleges and Universities. (2022). Published College Program Standards [Government]. Ontario; Government of Ontario. <u>https://www.tcu.gov.on.ca/pepg/audiences/</u> <u>colleges/progstan/</u>

Ministry of Colleges and Universities. (2023). Ministry of Colleges and Universities | ontario.ca [Ontario Government]. Ministry of Colleges and Universities |. <u>http://www.ontario.</u> <u>ca/page/ministry-colleges-universities</u> Moritz, S. (2005). Service design: Practical access to an evolving field. <u>https://www.ser-vicedesigninstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Practical-Access-to-Service-Design.pdf</u>

Mucz, D., & Gareau-Brennan, C. (2019). Evaluating Customer Experience through Customer Journey Mapping and Service Blueprinting at Edmonton Public Library: An Exploratory Study. Partnership: The Canadian Journal of Library and Information Practice and Research, 14(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.21083/partnership.v14i1.4743</u>

Office of the Auditor General of Ontario. (2021). Value-for-Money Audit: Public Colleges Oversight (p. 79) [Annual Report]. <u>https://auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arre-</u> ports/en21/AR_PrivateColleges_en21.pdf

One Voice Canada. (2021). The Realities for International Students: Evidenced Challenges (p. 35). <u>https://onevoicecanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/The-Realities-of-International-Students-Evidenced-Challenges_Full-Report-1.pdf</u>

Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, S.O. 2002, c. 8, Sched. F

Ontario Pallative Care Network. (2018). Patient and Family Advisor Journey Mapping Exercise Summary. Ontario Palliative Care Network. <u>https://www.ontariopalliativecarenet-work.ca/sites/opcn/files/2021-01/OPCNJourneyMappingExercise.pdf</u>

Osborne, S. P., Radnor, Z., & Nasi, G. (2013). A New Theory for Public Service Management? Toward a (Public) Service-Dominant Approach. The American Review of Public Administration, 43(2), 135–158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074012466935</u>

Ostrom, A. L., Bitner, M. J., Brown, S. W., Burkhard, K. A., Goul, M., Smith-Daniels, V., Demirkan, H., & Rabinovich, E. (2010b-02-01). Moving Forward and Making a Difference: Research Priorities for the Science of Service. Journal of Service Research, 13(1), 4–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670509357611

Ostrom, A. L., Bitner, M. J., & Burkhard, K. A. (2011a). Leveraging Service Blueprinting to Rethink Higher Education. Center for American Progress., 76.

Owen, S. L. (1995). Organizational Culture and Community Colleges. In Challenge and opportunity: Canada's community colleges at the crossroads (pp. 141–168). UBC Press.

Patton, L. D., Renn, K. A., Guido, F. M., & Quaye, S. J. (2016). Student development in college: Theory, research, and practice, 3rd ed. (pp. xxiv, 536). Jossey-Bass/Wiley.

Peters, D. (2021, February). Performance-based funding comes to the Canadian postsecondary sector. University Affairs. <u>https://www.universityaffairs.ca/news/news-article/</u> performance-based-funding-comes-to-the-canadian-postsecondary-sector/

Rains, J.-P. (2017). Defining student journey mapping in higher education: The 'how-to' guide for implementation on campus. Henry Stewart Publications, 2(2), 106–119.

Roberts, J. W. (2022). Service Design in Student Affairs: Blueprinting the Student Experience. Innovative Higher Education, 47(3), 367–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-021-09580-8</u>

Russel, J. (2010). Support and Adjustment, Counselling Services. In Achieving student success: Effective student services in Canadian higher education (pp. 337–348). McGill-Queen's University Press.

Seifert, P. T. A., Arnold, C., Burrow, J., & Brown, A. (2011). Supporting Student Success: The Role of Student Services within Ontario's Postsecondary Institutions. The Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario. <u>https://heqco.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Support-ing-Student-SuccessENG.pdf</u>

Seifert, T. A., & Burrow, J. (2013). Perceptions of student affairs and services practitioners in Ontario's post-secondary institutions: An examination of colleges and universities. Canadian Journal of Higher Education, 43(2), 132–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.47678/cjhe.v43i2.2505</u>

Seneca College. (2023a). Student Services and Support—Seneca, Toronto, Canada [College Website]. Seneca College. <u>https://www.senecacollege.ca/student-services-and-support.</u> <u>html</u>

Seneca College. (2023b). Student Support—Seneca, Toronto, Canada [College Website]. Seneca College. <u>https://www.senecacollege.ca/international/support.html</u>

Sheridan College. (n.d.a). Current Students | International Services [College Website]. Sheridan College. <u>https://www.sheridancollege.ca/admissions/international-centre/cur-</u><u>rent-students</u>

Sheridan College. (n.d.b). Student Services [College Website]. Sheridan College. <u>https://</u>www.sheridancollege.ca/student-life/student-services

Silverthorn, D. (2016). Hungry for knowledge: Assessing the prevalence of student food insecurity on five Canadian campuses (p. 49). Toronto: Meal Exchange. <u>http://mealex-change.com</u>

Stephens, N. (2015, April). Examining the Student Experience Using Service Blueprinting. EDUCAUSE. <u>https://er.educause.edu/articles/2015/4/examining-the-student-experi-ence-using-service-blueprinting</u>

Strange, C. C. (2010). Theoretical Foundations of Student Success. In Achieving student success: Effective student services in Canadian higher education (pp. 337–348). Mc-Gill-Queen's University Press.

Sullivan, B. (2010). Organizing, Leading, and Managing Student Services. In Achieving student success: Effective student services in Canadian higher education (pp. 240–275). McGill-Queen's University Press.

Tamburri, R. (2021, October 3). Graduate programs for student services professionals grow more common [University of Affairs]. University Affairs. <u>https://www.universi-tyaffairs.ca/news/news-article/graduate-programs-for-student-services-profession-als-grow-more-common/</u>

Tenzek, K. E. (2017). The SAGE Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods (Vol. 1–4, pp. 1614–1616). SAGE Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411</u>

The Canadian Press, T. C. (2017, November 2). Post-secondary groups call for beefed-up mental health services for students | CBC News. CBC. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/</u> toronto/post-secondary-groups-call-for-beefed-up-mental-health-services-for-students-1.4383496

Tinto, Vincent. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition (2nd ed.). University of Chicago Press.

Trischler, J., & Scott, D. R. (2016). Designing Public Services: The usefulness of three service design methods for identifying user experiences. Public Management Review, 18(5), 718–739.

Varughese, A., & Schwartz, S. (2022, April 1). The pandemic exposed the vulnerability of international students in Canada. University Affairs. <u>https://www.universityaffairs.ca/opinion/in-my-opinion/the-pandemic-exposed-the-vulnerability-of-international-students-in-canada/</u>

Veres, D. (2015). College Quarterly—Articles—Factors Impacting Student Service Utilization at Ontario Colleges: Key Performance Indicators as a Measure of Success: A Niagara College View. College Quaterly, 18(4), 16. Wesaw, A. J., & Sponsler, B. (2014). The Chief Student Affair Officer | Responsibilities, Opinions, and Professional Pathways of Leaders in Student Affairs (p. 23) [Executive Summary]. NASPA. <u>https://www.naspa.org/images/uploads/main/CSAO_2014_ExecSum_Down-</u> load2.pdf



Appendix A - Interview Questions

Table outlining main questions and follow-up questions asked during semi-structured interviews.

Key Questions	Probes and Potential Follow-ups	
Q1 Can you tell me a bit about your current role at the College?	1.1 What are some of the key tasks you do in your role?	
	1.2 Does your role involve working directly with students?	
Q2. What programs and services are currently offered by your department to students?	2.1 Where does your department currently sit in the organization?	
Q3. What if any other areas of the College that run similar programs and services?	3.1 What has your experience been like when collaborating with other departments?	
Q4. How do you go about making decisions around what programs/services need to be	4.1 Are students involved in the development process?	
developed?	 4.2 Describe to me the steps that you would take? For example, who tells you what you need to make a program. Maybe choose a program you've developed in the past and walk me through the steps of doing it. Follow-up - Is that typical of how all programs are developed? 	
	4.3 What methods/tools do you use when developing programs and services?	
	4.4 When programs are developed how are existing programs taken into account?	
	4.5 What factors do you consider when developing programs and services?	
Q5. Can you walk me through your typical process for developing a program or service?	5.1 What was your experience like using Service Design?	
Follow-up: What are some of the challenges you face when designing programs and	5.2 How have you been involved?	
services?	5.3 What do you think about the outcome of using Service Design?	
	5.4 What does Service Design entail & how would you define it?	
Q6. Are you familiar with a design practice called Service Design? If yes, follow-up on experience with Service Design. If no, introduce the Service Design	Provide definition: "Service Design helps to innovate (create new) or improve (existing) services to make them more useful, usable, desirable for clients and are efficient as well as effective for organizations. It is a new holistic, multi-disciplinary, integrative field (Moritz, 2008)	
Q7. Based on what I shared with you, I'm curious to hear your thoughts on the potential of applying Service Design to develop student service and programs? Q8. What are some of the challenges you anticipate would need to be resolved in order for you to be able to use Service Design? Q9. What conditions need to be in place in order for Service Design to work at your College?	How do you envision Service Design working at your College?	

Madina Siddiqui, 2023